ON TARGET

1999 Annual Report




Adobe on the mark .




I . = It's what separates artists from amateurs,
nsp lratlo n ® leaders from managers, and technology
innovators from imitators. It turns an ordinary endeavor into a work
of genius. And when applied with vision, it changes the world.
Making real the promise of inspiration is no small task. It requires a catalyst,
a conduit, an agent of change. In the realm of human communications, it requires
Adobe Systems. For nearly two decades, Adobe has provided the software that
helps people communicate better, When touched by Adobe applications, the
World Wide Web becomes a vibrant landscape, delivering information and
commerce in rich and surprising ways. Printed matter becomes a vehicle for
conveying sophisticated brand identity on the original portable storage media—

paper. And a common office document becomes a vital, valuable resource that

1 [
can be rapidly shared across any organization. In short, inspiration beCOI‘neS r e a lt ’ ]

dobe.con

In the year 2000, we at Adobe will build on our legacy of leadership, meet industry challenges, and execute our most creative
ideas. We will continue to set standards on the Web, in Print, in the dynamic world of Motion graphics, and in enterprises
deploying Adobe® ePaper® Solutions. Around the globe, in every medium and profession, people striving to communicate

better will look for a way to make real their most inspired communications. They will find it here at Adobe Systems.



John Warnock Chuck Geschke
Chairman of the Board Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer and President
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as a year of turnaround. In late 1998, we laid the ground-
work for success by streamlining operations, establishing company-wide management controls, and refining our Internet
strategy. Our efforts paid off in a big way. Adobe stock began a steady ascent, and by the end of fiscal 1999, its value had increased
fourfold. Additionally, our diluted earnings per share increased by 139%, from $0.77 to $1.84 year over year, our operating
profit increased by 107% year over year, and Adobe became a top performer in the S&P 500.

We're not about to rest on our laurels. Adobe has begun executing a comprehensive, forward-looking business plan targeted
to increase our revenue growth. We remain committed to operational excellence as well as making sure our development efforts
are intensely focused on adding value to the markets we serve. We believe the Adobe
vision—to help people communicate better—has never been clearer or more relevant
than it is today. By combining fine-tuned operations with a strong product roadmap,
we can take advantage of the many opportunities in front of us to become a growth

company worth investing in for the long haul.

In fiscal 1999, Adobe set many new performance and
operating records. Revenue exceeded $1 billion for the first time in the company’s
history, totaling $1.015 billion. This represents a 16% increase compared with fiscal
1998, after consideration of businesses divested by Adobe in 1998. Reported net income

reached a record level of $238 million, a 126% increase compared with fiscal 1998.



Adobe’s Web Publishing revenue grew to $394 million, an 11% increase over fiscal 1998. Print Publishing revenue grew to
$354 million, a 30% year-over-year increase. Based on the explosive growth of Adobe Acrobat®in 1999, Adobe ePaper Solutions
application revenue increased 123% over fiscal 1998, growing from $58 million to $129 million in 1999. And as we projected,
revenue from our OEM PostScript® and Other segment declined from $210 million in fiscal 1998 to $138 million in fiscal 1999,

a drop-off of 34%. The growth and strength in our other market segments more than offset this decline.

ENHANCING OUR OPERATING MODEL Through a variety of restructuring measures and by improving operational efficiency,
Adobe was able to enhance operations in fiscal 1999. By strategically outsourcing functions such as order fulfillment and
utilizing the Internet to work more efficiently with our customers and partners worldwide, we’re working toward improving the
quality and timeliness of the way we run our business.

The results were measurable. General and administrative overhead was reduced by 13%, or $15 million, during the year. Direct
costs were reduced, helping increase gross margins from 88.7% in fiscal 1998 to 90.7% in fiscal 1999. With expenses held in check,
operating profit increased to $260 million in fiscal year 1999, up 107% compared with fiscal year 1998.

This year, additional business planning programs and quantitative measures were put in place to more effectively manage our
business. These processes allow our management team to closely monitor the company’s performance worldwide.

Adobe’s overall financial position is strong, with cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investment balances of $499 million

and no long-term debt, as of our fiscal year-end on December 3, 1999.

BECOMING A SUCCESSFUL WEB COMPANY One of the most energizing
influences at Adobe this year was the rapid and ongoing growth of the Internet
as a communication and commerce medium. We responded to the unfolding Web
opportunities with a multipronged online strategy. By releasing Adobe GoLive™ 4.0 in
March, we rounded out a robust, industrial-strength creative environment for Web
developers working on both Windows® and Macintosh platforms. Our latest update to
Adobe Photoshop® version 5.5, included advanced capabilities for Web graphics
production and helped boost its revenue to record levels. Next year, we will continue
to meet the needs of Web designers and producers with compelling new Web-focused

software releases as well as Web-savvy updates of our flagship products.




There’s more to Adobe’s success as a Web company than just the development
of world-class applications. We're now fully utilizing the Internet as an essential tool
for conducting internal and external business processes. Within Adobe, business
communications and processes are conducted over the Internet, and we ask our

channel partners to conduct business with us in the same way.

Perhaps the most visible expression of our intensified focus on the Internet
was the relaunch of our corporate Web site, Adobe.com. The new site delivers
compelling, frequently refreshed content tailored for our customer communities

worldwide. And with a globally recognized brand, Adobe.com FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

gets an average of 8.5 million visitors per month. By organizing TOTAL REVENUE
the site into four centers directed at our primary communities, we're providing a highly specialized 1000 o :
destination site complete with robust technical support, Web-hosted services, and the ability to buy 900 /\/.
any Adobe product online. Strategic partnerships with other industry leaders—such as Impresse, Getty g 800 / :

Images, and Glyphica—ensure that we incorporate the best products and services into the site and e

address our customers’ needs at Internet speed. R

® @
STILL STRONG OFFLINE  Our remarkable success online in 1999 does not mean we’ve in any way diminished our

commitment to—or leadership in—our traditional markets. In August, we delivered our eagerly awaited,
next-generation page layout program, Adobe InDesign}™ to a publishing industry hungry for new solutions
and technologies. Adobe InDesign was a strong performer from day one. The InDesign Jump Start program
helped ease the transition for large-scale publishing enterprises making a switch from other publishing
technologies, and we provided equally comprehensive support to new adopters in smaller design and
publishing environments. After only six months on the market, InDesign boasted several key wins.
DDB Needham, McCann-Erickson, Young & Rubicam, and CAPPS Digital have adopted InDesign to
streamline page layout. The robustness and extensibility of InDesign coupled with our customers’ frustration

at the lack of software alternatives promise to help us secure a foothold in this $500-million-per-year market.



With Adobe PressReady;” we're instigating another revolution in the print world. In March 1999,
publishing industry guru Andrew Tribute called this desktop proofing software “a facilitator of change ...
that can cause a fundamental switch in the market.” And the integration of Adobe PostScript® Extreme™
technology into high-end print systems around the globe demonstrates that we continue to drive

important trends in the printing industry from the ground up.

When it comes to the enterprise, Adobe’s influence has never been stronger. In April, we shipped
Adobe Acrobat 4.0, a powerful, updated version of the industry-standard document exchange software.
Built on feedback from our customers, the new version incorporates extensive workgroup collaboration

tools and support for digital signatures. By fiscal year-end,

DILUTED EARNINGS NET INCOME ope REVENUE BY Acrobat revenue had passed the $100 million mark, more than
2:00 250 ga, Rl doubling the previous year’s revenue and firmly reiterating our
) ‘ 200 : o Bt leadership position. In June, we introduced Adobe ePaper
4, : A= é old - Solutions. Combining a variety of Acrobat and Adobe Portable

e e T S v = 2 Document Format (PDF) technologies, Adobe ePaper Solutions

i AR 5 S R i3 NRE make it easier than ever for government agencies and businesses
gl & s in document-intensive markets—including financial services,
«Web « Print » ePaper » OEM Postscript legal, insurance, and pharmaceuticals—to jointly manage their

electronic and paper-based information workflows.

ADOBE 2000  AsAdobecrosses the threshold of a new millennium, there’s much to be excited about. With the continuing evolution of the World Wide Web,
we will have many opportunities to set new standards. Both large and small Web-bound companies now have access to the same kinds of eCommerce
servers, routers, and other back-end technologies for true 24/7 operations. The key point of differentiation at this juncture is how companies in this
fiercely competitive environment brand themselves. From maintaining a visually rich Web site to displaying goods and services with compelling fidelity,
successful online retailers will capture their customers much as they have in the traditional retail world. And they’ll do it with Adobe software. From
the powerful Adobe design and production applications available today to future technologies based on standards such as eXtensible Markup Language
(XML) and Scalable Vector Graphics (SVG), online retailers will have access to some of the most innovative, creative tools ever created. With each of

these solutions, Adobe is committed to leading the eMerchandising market—just as we have led our traditional markets in the past.
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As we look ahead, we anticipate capturing a significant share of the professional
publishing software market as Adobe InDesign becomes a solution of choice
for graphic designers, agencies, and service bureaus. Speaking of solutions, we
will continue to offer the well-received Adobe Collections. These powerful suites

bring together three or more Adobe applications at a significant price break for

professionals working on the Web, in print, in business publishing environments,
or with digital video. As more enterprises learn to manage their electronic and paper
information assets in a fluid, heterogeneous environment, Adobe ePaper Solutions

will help them achieve their goals. The competitive prices and consumer-level

availability of digital video hardware provide an opportunity for us to address the needs of all levels of users, just as we have done
with our digital imaging franchise. And the electronic distribution of all manner of published content allows us to bring our

expertise from the print world to the digital domain. From eBooks to digital rights management, you'll see Adobe providing the

enabling technologies that make it possible to distribute and obtain information in truly revolutionary ways.

In closing, we realize that a turnaround of the magnitude Adobe has seen this
year is directly attributable to the hard work, dedication, and vision of our
employees. We've known that our people are our greatest asset since long before it
became fashionable to say so, and we are committed to retaining a talented workforce
and hiring the very best as we continue to grow. With their help, Adobe will continue
to create, market, and support the software that helps people in all professions make

inspiration become reality.

anel____ @é&/«ﬁﬂ\

John Warnock Chuck Geschke
Chairman of the Board Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer and President
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Try to imagine a company, product, or service that shouldn't

take advantage of the opportunities offered by the World Wide

SUBSCRIBER STUDY, 89% OF WEB DESIGNERS USE ADOBE PHOTOSHOP TO DESIGN WEB PAGES

Web. You'll be thinking a long time. Consumers now expect that
every new business venture, automobile, music recording, and
major motion picture will be accompanied by its own unique
Web site, complete with original content, multimedia, and
eCommerce capabilities. In this frenetic atmosphere of online
activity, designers need to do more than create visually engaging
Web sites. Instead, they need to create compelling online brand

identities that differentiate sites and keep visitors coming back.

Adobe WeDb»



Web

Adobe Acrobat®

Adobe ActiveShare™

Adobe After Effects®

Adobe Dynamic Media Collection
Adobe Golive™

Adobe GolLive Dynamic Link
Adobe Illustrator®

Adobe LiveMotion™

Adobe PageMill®

Adobe PhotoDeluxe®

Adobe Photoshop®

Adobe Photoshop Limited Edition
Adobe Premiere®

Adobe Web Collection




strength

N THE WEB IS FOUND

Only Adobe offers a complete creative
environment for building powerhouse Web

brands. Experienced designers appreciate

IN BRANDING

1

how Adobe GolLive software works fluently with Adobe graphics software such as
Adobe Photoshop and Illustrator to create clean, functional user interfaces for
eCommerce storefronts and information-rich online magazines. Design shops add
Adobe After Effects and Adobe Premiere to the mix, pushing the sound and motion
envelope for full-blown entertainment sites. Later this year, Adobe will intensify the

multimedia experience with Adobe LiveMotion, a new high-end production tool that

Representing the company’s single biggest advertising endeavor, creates killer Web animations in no time.
the Adobe Web Solutions campaign features high-impact visuals that The way Adobe talks about the
entice Web designers to visit two sophisticated Adobe “microsites”:
www.smashstatusquo.com and www.defytherules.com.
The microsites showcase some of the most incredible effects on the Web, all  completely relaunched corporate Web

Web isn’t just “vision speak?” With our

created with Adobe Golive, Photoshop, lllustrator, After Effects, and Premiere. Visitors  gjte, we're practicing what we preach.

worldwide can explore these interactive sites
for design techniques and then easily link

to Adobe.com for more product information.

Built from the ground up with Adobe Web tools, Adobe.com features rich, industry-
specific content, breathtaking multimedia delivered with the latest audio and video
streaming technologies, and online purchasing of Adobe products at the Adobe Store.
Site visitors can also test drive a variety of innovative Web-hosted software modules.
From on-the-fly creation of Adobe PDF files to group document collaboration, these

applications allow Adobe customers to experience the future of the Web today.
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If the last few decades of media have proven anything, it's

that print complements rather than competes with other

PAGE LAYOUT PROGRAM IN MORE THAN A DECADE TO BE ENGINEERED FROM THE GROUND UP
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communications vehicles. Neither radio nor television nor
the Web have killed the printed page. In fact, the explosive
success of the Web has depended heavily on print. From print
advertising to billboards to direct-mail campaigns, Internet
companies spent $726 million in 1999' on printed material
that drives customers to their sites. They know that not even
the most innovative site can deliver the ultra-high resolution,

portability, or tactile pleasure afforded by ink on paper.

Adope Print:







No one {s better qualified to help publishers
unleash | the power of print than Adobe.

Building on the industry standards set with

images

ON PAPER COMMUNICATE POWERFULLY ACROSS THE GLOBE

Adobe Photoshop and|Adobe Illustrator, we’re now|delivering a complete professional
publishing platform featuring drag-and-drop intei’activit}' between applications and
a common user interface. At the heart of this platform lies Adobe InDesign, a
completely new page layout program built for the future of professional publishing. From
Web company brand advertising to sophisticated annual reports like the one you're now

reading, graphic designers can use Adobe

InDesign to make their inspirations become
real with power, precision, and elegance.

Adobe knows that print publishing doesn’t stop at the designer’s desktop. The
final production of any printed matter requires a delicate convergence of hardware,

software, and forces beyond many publishers’ control. With Adobe PostScript/

printing technologies, we've played a crucial role in making this complicated mix
more m;tnageable. Today, technologies based on Adobe PDF—including Adobe
PressReady, t;u'r' new desktop proofing software—help print pmducers';ill over the
world collaborate onlihe--and_st_reamline the course from-creative conception to

final production.




Forget film crews, shooting scripts, and the tedium of pre-

production. With lightweight, handheld cameras and desktop

ADOBE

editing software in their creative arsenal, today’s digital video

enthusiasts are ready for inspiration to strike at any time.

And they're making more than just home movies. Fledgling

documentarists are recording highly personal stories. A thriving

underground film scene is pushing the limits of narrative with

experimental features, complete with eye-popping titles and

special effects. When the final edit is in the can, the Internet

provides instant digital distribution to a global audience.

AFTER EFFECTS HOLDS

84% OF TH
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Multimedia Worldwide—Table 2-33, Robert White, July 26, 1999,




Adobe After Effects®

Adobe Dynamic Media Collection
Adobe Golive™

Adobe lllustrator®

Adobe LiveMotion™

Adobe Photoshop®

Adobe Premiere®

Adobe Premiere Limited Edition

POST TC

-
<
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Using Adobe Premiere and Adobe After Effects, tomorrow’s Spielbergs and
Kurosawas can take any motion footage—whether originally shot on film, on

videotape, or directly to digital camera—and shape it with precision tools similar

__dynamic

e e

MEDIA PUTS CREATIVE

IDEAS INTO MOTION

B

to those found in a professional production environment, Both dynamic media
applications manipulate Adobe Illustrator and Photoshop files seamlessly, and
Adobe Premiere now supports the industry’s hottest plug-and-play input standard,
FireWire. For powerful software that readies motion graphics for their digital
video debut, auteurs, editors, and producers turn to Adobe.

Putting creative ideas into motion
isn’t just for filmmakers. Online designers
integrate digital video optimized by
Adobe Premiere and Adobe After Effects

software into cutting-edge Web sites—

like Adobe.com—to instruct, inform, and entertain. Authors of educational
CD-ROMs illustrate lessons with video and animation that are impossible to
capture in traditional textbooks. And families use Adobe motion software to preserve
important memories, creating digital video time capsules that can be instantly

e-mailed, saved to disk, or posted to the Web for sharing.



20

I N

199 9,

ADOBE ACROBAT REVENUE GREW BY MORE THAN

100 %

As corporations of all sizes scramble to adopt the latest

eBusiness practices, they're outsourcing entire IT functions,

installing massive Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems,

and establishing company-wide intranets. Taking care of big-

picture issues can be relatively easy; it's the smaller, everyday

problems that can short-circuit office workflows and stop

productivity in its tracks. Office documents can't be readily

opened or shared across platforms, valuable paper information

lies hidden in scattered filing cabinets, and document distri-

bution methods—even overnight delivery—can’t keep up

with the relentless pace of today’s Web-fueled market.




Adobe ePaper:



Adobe Acrobat®

Adobe Acrobat Business Tools
Adobe Acrobat Capture®
Adobe Acrobat Distiller® Server
Adobe Acrobat Forms

Adobe Acrobat Messenger™
Adobe Acrobat Reader™
Adobe Document Server
Adobe PDF Merchant™




~success _
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Businesses looking to manage electronic and paper documents simultaneously find

help in Adobe ePaper Solutions. Based on industry-standard Adobe Acrobat

technologies, Adobe ePaper Solutions convert almost any kind of information—

INTERNET SPEED REQUIFRES THE HELP OF EXPFERIENCED LEADERS

23

including Microsoft Office documents—to compact Adobe PDF files that can be

shared across heterogeneous computing platforms. Adobe PDF files faithfully

capture the look and formatting of any document, making them ideal for legal,

financial, and other applications where absolute visual fidelity is required. Anyone

with the free Acrobat Reader software can easily view and print Adobe PDF files, and
with more than 2 million copies of Acrobat Reader downloaded from Adobe.com
every month, Adobe PDF has become a standard file format for sharing information
across workgroups and across the globe. With the review tools found in Acrobat and
Acrobat Business Tools, companies can collaborate electronically with colleagues and
partners worldwide via e-mail, corporate intranets, and the Web.

Adobe ePaper Solutions go beyond document management to help distributors of
electronic content—such as downloadable eBooks—make Adobe PDF files accessible
on the Web. Digital rights management (DRM) tools, such as Adobe PDF Merchant

and Acrobat Reader with Web Buy, secure eCommerce transactions of content stored

in Adobe PDF and help publishers control access to the content in multiple ways.
Revolutionary business models like “superdistribution” are just the first fruits of

DRM tools—and only some of many creative business possibilities inspired by

Adobe ePaper Solutions.






Adobe on communication.

Five years ago, few could have predicted the massive global change the Internet was
about to effect. Even fewer realized how fast it would transpire. It's a change that runs far

deeper than the technology itself, however. It's not about browsers or dot coms or

operating systems. It's about a fundamental shift in how people communicate.
Visually or verbally, with static images or motion graphics, in real time or via e-mail,
the modes and manner of human communications have never been more creative,
fluid, or diverse.

Even more incredible than the variety of communication choices is the ability
to employ any number of them simultaneously. Graphic designers extend corporate

brand identities across traditional and online advertising campaigns. Media outlets
publish identical content in paper-based and Web versions. Families attach both
digital photos and video files to e-mail messages, and post them to Web sites for
sharing. And corporations disseminate tailored versions of information worldwide
via the Web, according to regional preferences and technological capabilities.
To understand how people communicate, Adobe has worked with and listened
to customers in every geographical and professional sphere. In the same spirit,
we hire talented people from every conceivable background. Drawing on the diverse experiences and expertise of these
women and men, we're anticipating and planning for how people will communicate in the twenty-first century.

We predict that Adobe customers will spend less time learning how to use technology and more time applying
it to their passions: to create new works of art, develop revolutionary new business models, bring families closer
together, extract wisdom from information, and even render our current notions of the Internet obsolete. Their words

and images will convey meaning.

Their inspirations will be made real.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion (presented in millions, except per share amounts) should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to
differ materially. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors
That May Affect Future Results of Operations” You should carefully review the
risks described in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to
be filed in 2000. When used in this report, the words “expects,” “anticipates,”

“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks” “estimates,” and similar expressions are
generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. You should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to publicly release any
revisions to the forward-looking statements or reflect events or circumstances
after the date of this document.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Founded in 1982, Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe” or the “Company”)
is a provider of graphic design, publishing, and imaging software for Web and
print production. We offer a market-leading line of application software products,
type products, and content for creating, distributing, and managing information
of all types. We license our technology to major hardware manufacturers,
software developers, and service providers, and we offer integrated software
solutions to businesses of all sizes, We distribute our products through a network
of distributors and dealers, value-added resellers (“VARs”), systems integrators,

and original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers; direct to end users
through Adobe call centers; and through our own Web site at www.adobe.com.
We have operations in the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and
Africa), and Asia.

Revenue
1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997

................................ . . 4 e s

Revenue $1,0154 13% 8948 (2)% $911.9

Revenue is categorized into four major operating segments: Web Publishing, Print
Publishing, ePaper Solutions, and OEM PostScript and Other. The Web Publishing,
Print Publishing, and ePaper Solutions segments include application products
revenue that is derived predominantly from shipments of application software
programs marketed through retail, VAR, and OEM distribution channels. The
OEM PostScript and Other segment includes licensing revenue, which is made
up of royalties received from OEM customers who ship products containing
Adobe’s PostScript technology, and includes revenue from divested businesses.

Revenue from the Web Publishing segment is derived primarily from the sale
of the following application products: Adobe Photoshop, Adobe Premiere,
After Effects, GoLive, Adobe PhotoDeluxe, Adobe Web Collection, Adobe
Dynamic Media Collection, PageMill, ImageStyler, and ActiveShare. Print
Publishing revenue comes primarily from the sale of the following application
products: Adobe Illustrator, PageMaker, InDesign, FrameMaker, Adobe
Publishing Collection, Adobe Design Collection, Adobe Type Manager, Adobe
Type Library, PressReady, Adobe Font Folio, InCopy, Adobe Dimensions, and
Streamline. The ePaper Solutions segment is derived from the sale of Adobe
Acrobat software and other Acrobat related technologies.

For further information regarding our operating segments, see Note 16 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




During fiscal 1999, overall revenue increased 13% compared to fiscal 1998,
due to increased licensing of products in the Print Publishing, ePaper Solutions,
and Web Publishing segments. Excluding revenue from businesses divested

in the third quarter of fiscal 1998, revenue increased 16%. The Print
Publishing segment provided the majority of the fiscal 1999 revenue growth,
with a 30% increase from $272.2 million in fiscal 1998 to $353.9 million in
fiscal 1999. The increase in revenue from this segment was primarily due to
increased licensing of our Publishing Collection product and the introduction
of InDesign, a new page layout application software product, in the second
half of fiscal 1999, The increase in revenue from these products was partially
offset by a decline in revenue from PageMaker, Illustrator, and FrameMaker,
primarily due to product lifecycle timing.

Additional revenue growth was achieved through our ePaper Solutions segment,
as revenue more than doubled compared to the prior year, from $58.0 million
in fiscal 1998 to $129.3 million in fiscal 1999. This increase was due to the
release of Acrobat 4.0 in the second quarter of the year, with a higher number
of units licensed as a result of growing customer adoption of Adobe Acrobat
and Adobe Portable Document Format (“PDE”) technology.

The Web Publishing segment also contributed to the revenue growth as it grew
11% in fiscal 1999 to $394.1 million compared to $354.2 million in fiscal 1998.
The increase was primarily due to the release of GoLive, our new Internet
application software product introduced in the first half of fiscal 1999. In
addition, this segment experienced continued strength in the licensing of our
digital imaging and dynamic media products, with the release of Photoshop 5.5,
After Effects 4.1, and Adobe Premiere 5.1 in the first half of fiscal 1999, as well
as increased revenue from our Adobe Web Collection and Dynamic Media
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Collection products. The increase in revenue from this segment was partially
offset by a decline in revenue from Adobe PhotoDeluxe, due to reduced pricing,
and a decline in revenue from PageMill, due to product lifecycle timing.

The increase in revenue in fiscal 1999 in the above operating segments was
partially offset by a decline in revenue from the OEM PostScript and Other
segment of $72.2 million, or 34%, compared to fiscal 1998. OEM PostScript
licensing revenue has experienced a decline over the past three years, primarily
due to the ongoing weakness in the monochrome laser printer market as a
result of the following factors: loss of royalty revenue from Hewlett-Packard
Company’s (“HP”) desktop monochrome laser printer division, which has been
incorporating a clone version of Adobe PostScript software into its products
since the fall of 1997; a decline in the average selling price of monochrome
laser printers; and an increase in the use of inkjet printers, resulting in the
weakness in the monochrome laser printer market. In addition, in fiscal 1998,
we received $20.2 million in revenue in this segment from businesses we
divested in the third quarter of fiscal 1998, resulting in a decline of revenue
in fiscal 1999 from the absence of these businesses.

We continue to be cautious about revenue from our OEM PostScript and
Other segment because of the continuing weakness in the monochrome laser
printer market and the uncertain timing of OEM customer introductions of
products incorporating Adobe’s latest technologies. Excluding our investments
in our high-end color printing technologies, we anticipate that revenue from
our OEM PostScript and Other segment will continue to decline in fiscal 2000.

Total revenue decreased $17.1 million, or 2%, in fiscal 1998 compared to fiscal
1997, primarily due to adverse economic conditions in Japan and a decline in
revenue from our Print Publishing and OEM Postscript and Other segments.
The Print Publishing segment decreased 15% in fiscal 1998 compared to



fiscal 1997, due to a decline in revenue from our PageMaker, FrameMaker,
and Adobe Type Manager products, none of which had upgrades released
during the year, and a decline in revenue from our Illustrator product as its
latest upgrade was not released until late in the fourth quarter. The decrease
in this segment from the above products was partially offset by an increase
in our Adobe Publishing Collection product, which was introduced in the
U.S. and Asia in fiscal 1998. Additionally, the OEM PostScript and Other segment
experienced a 9% decline in fiscal 1998 compared to fiscal 1997, due to
weakness in the Japanese personal computer and printer markets, as well
as the reduction in royalty revenue from HP’s desktop monochrome laser
printer division.

The decline in revenue in fiscal 1998 was partially offset by an increase in
the ePaper Solutions and Web Publishing segments. The ePaper Solutions
segment grew 23% from fiscal 1997, due to increased demand for Acrobat 3.0.
Additionally, the Web Publishing segment increased 14% in fiscal 1998
compared to fiscal 1997 as a result of the release of our Photoshop 5.0 and
Adobe Premiere 5.0 products.

Opverall, revenue from our application products on the Windows platform
increased 22% in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, and revenue from our
application products on the Macintosh platform increased by 21% in fiscal 1999
over fiscal 1998. In fiscal 1998 compared to fiscal 1997, revenue from our
application products on the Windows platform increased by 21% while
revenue from our application products on the Macintosh platform decreased
10% during the same period. In both fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Windows
and Macintosh platforms accounted for 58% and 42%, respectively, of appli-
cation products revenue, excluding platform-independent and UNIX® products,
compared to 51% and 49%, respectively, in fiscal 1997. We expect the platform
mix to remain relatively the same in the foreseeable future.

Direct Costs
1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Direct costs 5945 (6)% $101.0 (13)% 51162
Percentage of
total revenue 9.3% 11.3% 12.7%

We reclassified certain direct costs and operating expenses in the fiscal 1998
and 1997 consolidated statements of income to conform to the fiscal 1999
presentation. These reclassifications did not impact total operating profit for
fiscal 1998 or 1997.

Direct costs include product packaging, third-party royalties, amortization
related to localization costs and acquired technologies, and reserves for excess
and obsolete inventory.

Direct costs decreased $6.5 million, or 6%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal
1998, due to more effective inventory management, resulting in lower excess
and obsolete inventory, as well as lower unit cost of materials as a result

of our ongoing cost improvement program.

Direct costs decreased $15.2 million, or 13%, in fiscal 1998 compared to fiscal
1997, due to lower packaging costs and our full transition from distribution

of our products on disk to CD-ROM media. Direct costs also decreased in fiscal
1998 compared to fiscal 1997 as certain acquired technologies became fully
amortized and we incurred lower product localization costs.

As a result of the impact of ongoing cost improvement programs, we have
targeted gross margin to be approximately 91% throughout fiscal 2000.




Operating Expenses

We reclassified certain direct costs and operating expenses in the fiscal 1998
and 1997 consolidated statements of income to conform to the fiscal 1999
presentation. These reclassifications did not impact total operating profit for
fiscal 1998 or 1997.

Research and development

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Research and
development  $ 1975 5%  $1883 "14% $165.9
Percentage of
total revenue 19.4% 21.0% 18.2%

Research and development expenses consist principally of salaries and benefits
for software developers, contracted development efforts, related facilities costs,
and expenses associated with computer equipment used in software development.

Research and development expenses increased $9.2 million, or 5%, in fiscal
1999 compared to fiscal 1998, due to higher incentive compensation expenses
primarily associated with the improvement in our financial performance in
fiscal 1999 over fiscal 1998 and higher incentive compensation targets. This increase
was partially offset by a decrease in salaries as a result of lower headcount
and decreases in general office expenses and professional fees as a result of
our fiscal 1998 restructuring program and other cost reduction efforts imple-
mented at that time,

Research and development expenses increased $22.4 million, or 14%, in fiscal
1998 compared to fiscal 1997, due to the expansion of our engineering staff
and related costs required to support our continued emphasis on developing
new products and enhancing existing products. The increase also reflects

our increased investments in new technologies, new product development,
and the infrastructure to support such activities. The increase in research and
development expenses in fiscal 1998 was partially offset by certain cost reduction
initiatives related to the restructuring program that was implemented
during the third quarter of fiscal 1998. We also reduced outside labor costs and
professional fees by discontinuing certain research and development programs.

We believe that investments in research and development, including the
recruiting and hiring of software developers, are critical to remain competitive
in the marketplace and are directly related to continued timely development of
new and enhanced products. We will continue to make significant investments in
the development of our application software products, including those targeted
for the growing Internet market. We expect that research and development
expenses for fiscal 2000 will increase in absolute dollars. We have targeted such
expenditures to be approximately 20% of revenue in fiscal 2000.

Sales and marketing

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Sales and

marketing $ 3285 4% $ 3155 9%  § 290.1
Percentage of

total revenue 32.3% 35.3% 31.8%

Sales and marketing expenses include salaries and benefits, sales commissions,
travel expenses, and related facilities costs for our sales, marketing, customer
support, and distribution personnel. Sales and marketing expenses also include
the costs of programs aimed at increasing revenue, such as advertising, trade
shows, public relations, and other market development programs.




Sales and marketing expenses increased $13.0 million, or 4%, in fiscal 1999
compared to fiscal 1998 as a result of higher incentive compensation expenses
primarily associated with the improvement in our financial performance in
fiscal 1999 over the prior year and higher incentive compensation targets.
In addition, sales and marketing expenses increased year over year, due to
increased advertising, promotional, and trade show expenses associated with
new product releases. The increase was partially offset by cost reduction initia-
tives related to the restructuring program implemented during the third quarter
of fiscal 1998 that eliminated certain brand advertising campaigns and other
marketing activities related to the divestiture of a business.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $25.4 million, or 9%, in fiscal 1998
compared to fiscal 1997, due to higher employee costs, increased customer
support costs, and increased marketing and advertising activities, Higher
commissions were also paid as a result of increased headcount and growth
in application products revenue compared to fiscal 1997. Additionally, sales
and marketing expenses included higher outside labor costs to support user
education related to new product releases and for the development of our Web
site, These increased expenses were partially offset by cost reduction initiatives
related to the restructuring program implemented during the third quarter of
fiscal 1998.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal
2000 to support investments in eBusiness and enhanced marketing activities.
For fiscal 2000, our sales and marketing expense target is approximately 32%

of revenue.

General and administrative

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
General and
administrative 5 103.6 (13)% S 1186 17% $101.0
Percentage of
total revenue 10.2% 13.3% 11.1%

General and administrative expenses consist principally of salaries and benefits,
travel expenses, and related facilities costs for the finance, human resources,
legal, information services, and executive personnel of Adobe. General and
administrative expenses also include outside legal and accounting fees, provision
for bad debts, and expenses associated with computer equipment and software
used in the administration of the business.

General and administrative expenses decreased $15.0 million, or 13%, in fiscal
1999 compared to the prior year, reflecting the savings related to the restruc-
turing programs implemented in fiscal 1999 and 1998. Additionally, the decrease
is attributable to decreased legal fees and lower bad debt expense. These
decreases were offset by an increase in incentive compensation expense primarily
associated with the improvement in our financial performance in fiscal 1999
over the prior year and higher incentive compensation targets.

General and administrative expenses increased $17.6 million, or 17%, in fiscal
1998 compared to fiscal 1997, due to increased expenses for outside legal and
investment banking services associated with responding to an unsolicited
acquisition proposal as well as increased employee costs and related depreciation
and building expenses associated with increased staff. Bad debt expense was also
higher in fiscal 1998 to reserve for accounts receivable from certain customers
that were deemed potentially uncollectible. These increased expenses were
partially offset by cost reduction initiatives related to the restructuring program
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implemented in the third quarter of fiscal 1998 that included a reduction in
general office and other administrative expenses.

We expect that general and administrative spending will remain flat or slightly
increase in absolute dollars in fiscal 2000 to support ongoing administrative
infrastructure needs. However, we have targeted such expenditures to decrease
as a percentage of revenue to approximately 9% in fiscal 2000.

Restructuring and other charges

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Restructuring and
other charges $23.0 (40)% $382 N/A 5 (0.6)
Percentage of
total revenue 23% 4.3% (0.1)%

During fiscal 1999 and 1998, we implemented three different Board-approved
restructuring programs. These unique restructuring programs were directly
focused on improving our competitive position as well as enhancing Adobe’s
allocation of resources. In addition to these three restructurings, we also
implemented restructuring programs in fiscal 1994 and 1995 related to the
Aldus Corporation (“Aldus”) and Frame Technology Corporation (“Frame”)
acquisitions. As of December 3, 1999, there was no restructuring liability
remaining for restructuring programs prior to fiscal 1998.

Fiscal 1999 restructuring programs The fourth quarter 1999 restructuring
program was implemented to enhance our worldwide customer support
activity and to streamline the product distribution and warehouse operations
in North America. The program resulted in a reduction in force of 86 positions
and the closure of the North American distribution warehouse as a result of
the decision to outsource our North American distribution and warehousing

operations and the majority of our customer support. The reduction in force
primarily affected employees in Seattle, Washington and Santa Clara, California.
Total charges incurred as a result of the restructuring were $2.1 million, which
include severance and related charges associated with the reduction in force
and charges for vacating leased facilities.

The other 1999 restructuring program, implemented in the second and third
quarters, was directly related to the centralization of our worldwide sales
and administrative organizations and the realignment of our Printing Solutions
business. The program included a reduction in force of 198 positions, two of
which were executive positions. The reduction in force primarily affected our
European headquarters in Edinburgh, Scotland and our North American
headquarters in San Jose, California. Total charges incurred as a result of the
restructuring were $17.6 million, of which approximately $0.1 million were non-
cash charges. This restructuring was completed in the third quarter of fiscal 1999.

In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, we revised our estimate of the
total costs associated with the restructuring program implemented during the
second and third quarters described above, resulting in an adjustment to the
restructuring accrual of approximately $3.2 million. Approximately $3.0 million
of the adjustment reflects lower than estimated severance and related charges
primarily attributable to employees impacted by the restructuring who were
able to find alternative employment within Adobe. The remaining adjustment
was due to lower than expected charges related to vacating leased facilities.

We also recorded adjustments during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal
1999 related to prior year restructuring programs in the amount of $1.9 million.
For detailed information regarding the adjustments and our restructuring pro-
grams, see Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fiscal 1998 restructuring program The 1998 restructuring program was
implemented to refocus our product development efforts and to eliminate
management redundancies in the organization. As part of the restructuring
program, we implemented a reduction in force of 364 positions, four of which
were executive positions, primarily in our North American and corporate
operations. The reductions came predominantly from overhead areas, divested
business units, and redundant marketing activities, and as of August 31, 1998,
the majority of these terminations were completed. In addition to severance
and related charges associated with the reduction in force of 364 positions,
the restructuring program included charges for divesting two business units,
vacating leased facilities, and canceling certain contracts, These actions and
other nonrestructuring-related items resulted in charges of $38.2 million, of
which approximately $9.1 million were noncash charges.

During fiscal 1999, we experienced savings of approximately $60.0 million
from the fiscal 1998 restructuring program as a result of the reductions in force,
as well as reductions in marketing, facilities, and other discretionary expenses,
such as travel and outside services. We also experienced savings of approximately
$15.0 million as a result of the restructuring programs implemented during
fiscal 1999, which on an annualized basis equate to approximately $25.0 million.
We believe that the savings realized under the restructuring programs will be
invested in programs and people to enhance revenue growth by significantly
increasing our investment in eBusiness and enhanced marketing activities.
We also believe that these savings will assist us in achieving our operating
model targets of 20%, 32%, and 9% of revenue for research and development,
sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses, respectively,

in fiscal 2000.

Other charges During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, we recorded
other charges of $8.4 million that were unusual in nature. These charges
included $2.0 million associated with the cancellation of a contract, and $2.2
million for accelerated depreciation related to the adjustment of the useful life
of certain assets as a result of decisions made by management as part of the
restructuring program. Additionally, we incurred a nonrecurring compensation
charge totaling $2.6 million for a terminated employee, and we incurred con-
sulting fees of $1.6 million to assist in the restructuring of our operations.

In fiscal 1997, restructuring and other charges included a $1.8 million charge
related to the acquisition of intellectual property. This charge was offset by
a $2.4 million gain related to the divestiture of a product line.

Acquired in-process research and development

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Acquired in-process

research and

development $36 NA — NA $ 6.0
Percentage of

total revenue 0.4% _ 0.7%

Acquired in-process research and development of $3.6 million in fiscal 1999
is comprised of $3.0 million and $0.6 million associated with the acquisitions
of Attitude Software, LLC (“Attitude Software”) and Photomerge Technology
(“Photomerge”), respectively. The following is a summary of the projects
acquired in the acquisitions and the assumptions used in determining the value
of the in-process research and development costs.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially all of the
assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Attitude Software. The acquisition
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was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16 (“APB 16”), and substantially
all of the purchase price of $3.0 million cash was allocated to in-process
research and development and expensed at the time of acquisition. The ongoing
project at Attitude Software at the time of the purchase included the develop-
ment of the 3D Anarchy authoring product. This technology was purchased
for incorporation into future versions of existing Adobe products to further
enhance the feature sets and user interface contained within the products. At
the date we acquired Attitude Software, it was estimated that 50% of the
development effort had been completed and that the remaining 50% of the
development effort would take approximately 18 months to complete and
would cost $1.8 million. The efforts required to complete the development
of the technology primarily relate to additional design efforts to integrate

the technologies into several of Adobe’s products, finalization of coding, and
completion testing. The value of the in-process technology was determined
by estimating the projected net cash flows related to products the technology
will be integrated into, including costs to complete the development of the
technology and the future net revenues that may be earned from the products,
excluding the value attributed to the existing technology with the products
prior to the integration of the purchased technology. These cash flows were
discounted back to their net present value using a discount rate of 20%, exclusive
of the value attributable to the use of the in-process technologies in future products.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially
all of the assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Photomerge. In connection
with the acquisition of Photomerge, 100% of the purchase price, or $600,000 cash,
was allocated to in-process research and development due to the state of com-
pletion and the uncertainty of the technology.

During fiscal 1997, we acquired three software companies, in separate transac-
tions, for an aggregate consideration of approximately $8.5 million. These
acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and
approximately $6.0 million of the purchase price was allocated to in-process
research and development and expensed at the time of the acquisitions. One
of the in-process technologies acquired for $2.5 million was discontinued in
fiscal 1998. The project associated with an additional $2.8 million of the purchased
in-process technology was canceled as part of the restructuring in the third quarter
of fiscal 1998 and was subsequently sold to a management-led buyout group.

Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Amortization of
goodwill and
purchased
intangibles $48 (38)% $77 202% $26
Percentage of
total revenue 0.5% 0.9% 0.3%

Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles in fiscal 1999
primarily relates to the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of GoLive
Systems, Inc. and a related partnership (together “GoLive Systems”) in January
1999. (For further information, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.)

In fiscal 1998, amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles was higher
than fiscal 1997 as a result of acquisitions made in fiscal 1998 and remaining
amortization related to the merger with Aldus in fiscal 1994.
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Nonoperating Income
Investment gain

1989 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Investment gain $889 493% $15.0 (56)% 5343
Percentage of
total revenue B.8% 1.7% 3.8%

Investment gain consists principally of realized gains or losses from direct
investments as well as mark-to-market valuation adjustments for investments
held by Adobe Incentive Partners, L.P. (“AIP”).

In fiscal 1999, we recorded a realized gain of $58.4 million related to the sale
of our investment in Vignette Corporation. We also recorded investment gains
from mark-to-market adjustments totaling $17.8 million, $10.4 million, and
$7.0 million related to investments in Electronic Submission Publishing
Systems, Inc; DigitalThink, Inc.; and Tumbleweed Communications Corporation,
respectively. These gains were partially offset by an investment loss of $5.2 million
related to the acquisition of PointCast, Inc., a former investee of the Company,
by idealab!’s Launchpad Technologies, Inc. (“idealab!”). In connection with the
acquisition, we exchanged our shares of PointCast, Inc. for approximately 542,000
shares of idealab! (since then has become EntryPoint, Inc.). Additionally, we
recorded a net gain totaling $0.5 million related to mark-to-market adjustments
of various other Adobe venture investments.

In fiscal 1998, we recorded a realized gain of $6.7 million related to our investment
in McQueen International Limited (“McQueen”), due to the acquisition of
McQueen by Sykes Enterprises, Incorporated (“Sykes”), a publicly traded company.
In addition, we liquidated our investment in Siebel Systems, Incorporated
(“Siebel”) through the distribution to our stockholders of approximately 165,000
shares of Siebel common stock as a dividend-in-kind and the sale of our remaining

Siebel shares. A gain was recognized on the transaction of approximately
$5.7 million. The remaining net realized gain recorded in fiscal 1998 represents
valuation adjustments related to our venture investments held by AIP.

In fiscal 1997, the investment gain related primarily to the liquidation of our
investment in Netscape Communications Corporation (“Netscape”) through
the distribution to its stockholders of 554,660 shares of Netscape common
stock as a dividend-in-kind and the sale of our remaining Netscape shares,

We are uncertain of future investment gains or losses as they are primarily
dependent upon the operations of the underlying investee companies.

Interest and other income

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Interest and
other income $ 25.7 (6)% 5274 (12)% $31.0
Percentage of
total revenue 2.5% 3.1% 3.4%

Interest and other income consists principally of interest earned on cash, cash
equivalents, and short-term investments, as well as foreign exchange transaction
gains and losses and realized gains or losses on the disposal of assets.

The decrease in interest and other income over the past three years is due to
lower average cash and short-term investment balances, primarily as a result
of cash used for stock repurchases. In addition, during fiscal 1999 more invest-
ments were made in tax-exempt securities, resulting in lower interest income
on a comparative pre-tax basis. The decrease in interest and other income in
fiscal 1999 was partially offset by a $5.7 million gain realized from the sale of a
corporate facility in Edinburgh, Scotland in connection with the restructuring
program announced in the second quarter of fiscal 1999,
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Interest income is expected to decrease in fiscal 2000 due to lower average cash
balances resulting from stock repurchases conducted in fiscal 1999, Further,
our cash balances could also be reduced in fiscal 2000 due to continuing stock
repurchases and the purchase of software companies, products, or technolo-
gies that are complementary to our business.

Income Tax Provision

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Income tax
provision $136.7 119% $62.6 (43)% 51093
Percentage of
total revenue 13.5% 7.0% 12.0%
Effective tax rate 36.5% 37.3% 36.9%

Our effective tax rate decreased in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, primarily
due to a decrease in nondeductible goodwill amortization.

Our effective tax rate increased in fiscal 1998 from fiscal 1997 principally as a result
of the nondeductible write-off of goodwill and lower tax-exempt interest income.

We have targeted our effective tax rate to decrease in fiscal 2000 to approxi-
mately 35%.

Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations
We believe that in the future our results of operations could be affected
by various factors, including;

* delays in shipment of our new products and major new versions
of existing products

« lack of market acceptance of new products and upgrades
« introduction of new products by major competitors

- weakness in demand for application software and printers
renegotiation of royalty arrangements

« lack of growth in worldwide personal computer and printer sales, and
downward sales price adjustments

» consolidation in the OEM printer business
+ ongoing weakness in our printing business due to product transitions
« industry transitions to new business and information delivery models

-

adverse changes in general economic conditions in any of the countries
in which we do business

« Year 2000 issues (as discussed later under “Year 2000 Issues”)

We have stated that in fiscal 2000 our annual revenue growth target is 20%
over fiscal 1999 revenue and that our gross margin and operating profit
margin targets are 91% and 30%, respectively. Additionally, in fiscal 2000, our
operating model targets for research and development, sales and marketing,
and general and administrative expenses are 20%, 32%, and 9% of revenue,
respectively, and our effective tax rate target is 35%. We use these targets

to assist us in making decisions about our allocation of resources and invest-
ments, not as predictions of future results. The targets reflect a number of
assumptions, including;

* assumptions about product pricing
+ manufacturing costs and volumes

+ the mix of application products and licensing revenue, full and upgrade
products, distribution channels, and geographic distribution

These and many other factors described in this report affect our financial
performance and may cause our future results, including results for the
current quarter, to vary materially from these targets.

Our ability to develop and market products, including upgrades of current
products that successfully adapt to changing customer needs, may also have
an impact on our results of operations. Our ability to extend our core tech-
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nologies into new applications and to anticipate or respond to technological
changes could affect our ability to develop these products. A portion of our
future revenue will come from these new applications. Delays in product or
upgrade introductions, whether by us or by our OEM customers, could cause
a decline in our revenue, earnings, or stock price. We cannot determine the
ultimate effect that these new products or upgrades will have on our revenue
or results of operations.

The market for our graphics applications, particularly our consumer and Web
publishing products, is intensely and increasingly competitive and is significantly
affected by product introductions and market activities of industry competitors.
Additionally, Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) has increased its presence
in the digital imaging/graphics market; we believe that, due to Microsoft’s
market dominance, any new Microsoft digital imaging products will be highly
competitive with our products. If competing new products achieve widespread
acceptance, our operating results would suffer.

We generally offer our application and server-based products on Macintosh,
Windows, UNIX, and Linux® platforms. To the extent that there is a slowdown
of customer purchases of personal computers on either the Windows or
Macintosh platforms or in general, our business could be harmed.

We distribute our application products primarily through distributors, resellers,
and retailers (collectively referred to as “distributors”). A significant amount of
our revenue for application products is from a single distributor. We are in the
process of revising our channel program to reduce the overall number of our
distributors worldwide and focus our channel efforts on larger distributors.

This revision of the channel program has resulted in an increase in our
dependence on a smaller number of distributors selling through a larger amount
of our products. Additionally, our goal is to increase our direct distribution of
our products to end users through our online store located on our Web site at
www.adobe.com. Any such increase in our direct revenue efforts will place us in
increased competition with our channel distributors and with newer types of
distribution of our products by online, Internet-based resellers of our products.
While we anticipate that the restructuring and streamlining of our product
distribution channels and the increase in the scope of our direct sales efforts
will eventually improve our business by decreasing discounts or rebate pro-
grams provided to distributors, decreasing product returns, and shortening
inventory cycles, these changes could instead seriously harm our business.

In addition, we continue to expand into third-party distribution channels,
including value-added resellers and systems integrators, in our effort to further
broaden our customer base. As a result, the financial health of these third
parties and our continuing relationships with them are becoming more
important to our success. Some of these companies are thinly capitalized and
may be unable to withstand changes in business conditions. Our business
could be seriously harmed if the financial condition of some of these third parties
substantially weakens or if our relationships with them deteriorate. Also,

as we seek to further broaden our customer base in the corporate business and
consumer markets, we may not successfully adapt our application software
distribution channels, which could cause our operating results to suffer. We
could experience decreases in average selling prices and some transitions in
our distribution channels that could seriously harm our business.
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We currently rely on three manufacturers of our products, each located in
a different region; one of these has just been added in the first quarter of fiscal
2000. If a manufacturer terminates its relationship with us or if our supply
from a manufacturer is interrupted or terminated for any other reason, we
may not have enough time to replace the supply of products manufactured
by that manufacturer to avoid harm to our business.

Revenue from our OEM PostScript and Other segment experienced a 34%
decline in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, primarily as a result of a decline
in revenue from the licensing of PostScript technology. We expect this trend to
continue and believe that our financial results could be harmed by it. The
weakness in the monochrome laser printer and Japanese markets were factors
causing the revenue decline. In addition, in the fall of fiscal 1997, HP began to
ship a clone version of Adobe PostScript technology in some printers, resulting
in lower licensing revenue to us in fiscal 1999 and 1998. Even though we
continue to work with HP printer operations to incorporate Adobe PostScript
and other technologies into other HP products, we expect continued lower
revenue in this segment from HP in fiscal 2000. If other significant customers
also decide to incorporate a clone version instead of Adobe PostScript technology,
it could seriously harm our business. Further, OEM customers on occasion
seek to renegotiate their royalty arrangements. We evaluate these requests on
a case-by-case basis. If an agreement is not reached, a customer may decide to
pursue other options, which could result in lower licensing revenue for us.

From the end of fiscal 1997 through the first quarter of fiscal 1999, we experi-
enced a decline in revenue from the Japanese market due to a weak Japanese
computer market and general economic conditions in Japan. During the second,
third, and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, we experienced an increase in applica-

tion revenue from our Japanese operation but still continued to experience a
decline in OEM PostScript and Other revenue. In addition, at the end of fiscal
1997, inventory levels for application products at our Japanese distributors
remained higher than what we consider normal. During fiscal 1998, we worked
with our major distributors in Japan to reduce channel inventory to what we
consider a reasonable level. Despite the slight improvement in the Japanese
economy in the second, third, and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, these adverse
economic conditions may continue in the short term, and they may continue
to adversely affect our revenue and earnings. Although there are also adverse
conditions in other Asian and Latin American economies, the countries affected
represent a much smaller portion of our revenue and thus have less impact on
our operational results.

We recently implemented restructurings of our business in the second, third,
and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, resulting in a workforce reduction of 9%.
However, we plan to continue to invest in certain areas, which will require us to
hire additional employees. Competition for high-quality personnel, especially
highly skilled engineers, is extremely intense. Our ability to effectively manage
this growth will require us to continue to improve our operational and financial
controls and information management systems and to attract, retain, motivate, and
manage employees effectively; otherwise our business could be seriously harmed.

The Internet market is rapidly evolving and is characterized by an increasing
number of market entrants that have introduced or developed products
addressing authoring and communication over the Internet. As is typical in the
case of a new and evolving industry, demand and market acceptance for recently
introduced products and services are subject to a high level of uncertainty. The
software industry addressing authoring and communications over the Internet
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is young and has few proven products. Standards defining Web graphics have
not yet been finally adopted. In addition, new models for licensing software
will be needed to accommodate new information delivery practices. Moreover,
critical issues concerning the commercial use of the Internet (including securi-
ty, reliability, ease of use and access, cost, and quality of service) remain unre-
solved and may affect the growth of Internet use, together with the software
standards and electronic media employed in such markets.

We have stated that we intend to increase our investment in eBusiness and
enhanced marketing activities in an effort to achieve revenue growth, but we
can provide no assurance that this increased investment in this new market will
result in increased revenue,

We derive a significant portion of our revenue and operating income from our
subsidiaries located in Europe, Japan, Asia Pacific, and Latin America. We
generally experience lower revenue from our European operations in the third
quarter because many customers reduce their purchasing activities in the summer
months. Additionally, we are uncertain whether the recent weakness experienced
in the Japan, Asia Pacific, and Latin America markets will continue in the
foreseeable future due to possible currency devaluation and liquidity problems
in these regions. While most of the revenue of our European subsidiaries is
denominated in U.S. dollars, the majority of our revenue derived from Japan
is denominated in yen, and the majority of all our subsidiaries’ operating
expenses are denominated in their local currencies. As a result, our operating
results are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. To date,
the financial impact of such fluctuations has not been significant. Our hedging
policy attempts to mitigate some of these risks, based on our best judgment
of the appropriate trade-offs among risk, opportunity, and expense. We have
established a hedging program to hedge our exposure to foreign currency

exchange rate fluctuations, primarily of the Japanese yen. Our hedging program
is not comprehensive, and our program may not offset more than a portion
of the adverse financial impact resulting from unfavorable movement in foreign
currency exchange rates.

In connection with the enforcement of our own intellectual property rights

or in connection with disputes relating to the validity or alleged infringement
of third-party rights, we have been and may in the future be subject to complex,
protracted litigation as part of our policy to vigorously defend our intellectual
property rights, Intellectual property litigation is typically very costly and can

be disruptive to our business operations by diverting the attention and energies
of management and key technical personnel. Although we have successfully
defended past litigation, we may not prevail in any ongoing or future litigation.
Adverse decisions in such litigation could have negative results, including
subjecting us to significant liabilities, requiring us to seek licenses from
others, preventing us from manufacturing or licensing certain of our products,
or causing severe disruptions to our operations or the markets in which we
compete, any one of which could seriously harm our business.

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”). GAAP are subject to interpretation by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “AICPA”), the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and various bodies formed
to interpret and create appropriate accounting policies. A change in these
policies can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even
affect the reporting of transactions completed before a change is announced.
Accounting policies affecting many other aspects of our business, including:
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+ rules relating to software revenue recognition

« purchase and pooling-of-interests accounting for business combinations
« the valuation of in-process research and development

+ employee stock purchase plans

= stock option grants

have recently been revised or are under review by one or more groups. Changes
to these rules or the questioning of current practices may have a significant
adverse effect on our reported financial results or in the way in which we
conduct our business.

Due to the factors noted earlier, as well as the Year 2000 issues noted later,
our future earnings and stock price may be subject to significant volatility,
particularly on a quarterly basis. Any shortfall in revenue or earnings compared
to analysts’ or investors’ expectations could cause, and has caused in the past,
an immediate and significant decline in the trading price of our common stock.
Additionally, we may not learn of such shortfalls until late in the fiscal quarter,
which could result in an even more immediate and greater decline in the trading
price of our common stock. Finally, we participate in a highly dynamic industry.
In addition to factors specific to us, changes in analysts' earnings estimates
for us or our industry, and factors affecting the corporate environment, our
industry, or the securities markets in general will often result in significant
volatility of our common stock price,

Year 2000 issues

We have been addressing a broad range of issues associated with the program-
ming code in existing computer systems as the Year 2000 approached. The
Year 2000 problem is complex, as many computer systems have been affected

in some way by the rollover of the two-digit year value to 00. Systems that
do not properly recognize such information could generate erroneous data
or cause a system to fail. The Year 2000 issue creates risk for us from unfore-
seen problems in our products or our own computer and embedded systems
and from third parties with whom we deal on financial and other transactions
worldwide. Failure of our and/or third parties’ computer systems or Year 2000
defects in our products could harm our ability to conduct our business.

We commenced a phased program to inventory, assess, remediate, test, imple-
ment, and develop contingency plans for all mission-critical applications and
products potentially affected by the Year 2000 issue (the “Y2K Program”).
All phases have been substantially completed, including proactive testing and
monitoring in the early part of the Year 2000. All of our business groups were
involved in the Y2K Program efforts.

We identified three potential areas of impact for review: (1) the software and
systems, including embedded systems, used in our internal business processes;
(2) third-party vendors, manufacturers, and suppliers; and (3) our software
products offered to customers. We estimate that the aggregate cost incurred
for the Y2K Program was less than $3.0 million, which we funded from
operating cash flows.

Internal business processes We have substantially completed all phases of our
Y2K Program related to our internal business processes, including proactive
monitoring and testing of these processes during the early part of the Year 2000.
In addition, in order to protect against the acquisition of additional products
that may not be Year 2000 ready, we implemented a policy requiring Year 2000
review of products or upgrades sold or licensed to us prior to their acquisition.
Through January 2000, we have not discovered any material issues. However,
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as it is still early in the Year 2000, such failures or the failure of any contingency
plan, remain a possibility, and it could seriously harm our business if significant
new noncompliance issues are identified.

Third-party vendors, manufacturers, and suppliers Both before and after

the Year 2000 date change, we contacted our critical suppliers, manufacturers,
distributors, and other vendors to determine whether their operations and

the products and services that they provide to us are Year 2000 compliant.
Through January 2000, we have not discovered any material issues. However,
as it is still early in the Year 2000, such failures or the failure of any contingency
plan remain a possibility and could seriously harm our business.

Products In addition, the Year 2000 issue could affect the products that we
license. We are currently continuing to test our products and gather information
about our technologies and products affected by the Year 2000 transition.
Current information about our products is available on our Year 2000 Web
site (www.adobe.com/newsfeatures/year2000). Information on our Web
site is provided to customers for the sole purpose of assisting in the transition
to the Year 2000. Such information is the most currently available concerning
our products and is provided “as-is” without warranty of any kind. We can pro-
vide no assurance that our current products do not contain undetected errors
or defects associated with Year 2000 issues that may result in material costs to us.

Contingency plans Our Y2K Program was designed to minimize the
possibility of serious Year 2000 interruptions. However, because the possibility
of such interruptions could not be eliminated, we developed contingency plans
addressing Year 2000 issues in our high-impact areas and for other areas as we
deemed practicable and advisable. Such plans for high-impact processes
continue to be revised and updated based on current information, even after

the start of the Year 2000, particularly in light of our internal ongoing process
and structural changes. Other contingency plans were prepared, tested,
and updated as we deemed practicable and appropriate. We continue to
expect to have personnel and resources available to deal with any Year 2000
problems that occur.

Some commentators have stated that a significant amount of litigation will
arise from Year 2000 compliance issues, and we are aware of a growing number
of lawsuits against other software vendors. Because of the unprecedented
nature of such litigation, it is uncertain whether or to what extent we may

be affected by it, and the impact and cost of such litigation is therefore not
estimable. The impact of the Year 2000 on our future revenue is difficult to
discern but is a risk to be considered in evaluating our future growth. Any costs
associated with potential Year 2000 litigation exposure are not included in the
total cost estimate above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 1998, the AICPA issued Statement of Position No. 98-9
(“SOP 98-9”), “Modifications of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
With Respect to Certain Transactions;” which amends SOP 97-2 and supersedes
SOP 98-4. SOP 98-9 requires recognition of revenue using the “residual method”
in a multiple-element software arrangement when fair value does not exist for
one or more of the delivered elements in the arrangement. Under the “residual
method]” the total fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and recog-
nized in accordance with SOP 97-2. We will adopt SOP 98-9 in fiscal 2000, and
we do not expect this to have a significant impact on us.



43

In March 1998, the AICPA issued SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs

of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” which pro-
vides guidance on accounting for the costs of developing computer software
intended for internal use. We must adopt SOP 98-1 effective as of fiscal 2000,
and we do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our results of
operations or financial position.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” SFAS 133 establishes
accounting and reporting standards for derivative financial instruments and
hedging activities and requires us to recognize all derivatives as either assets or
liabilities on the balance sheet and measure them at fair value. Gains and losses
resulting from changes in fair value would be accounted for depending on the
use of the derivative and whether it is designated and qualifies for hedge
accounting. In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS 137, which defers the imple-
mentation of SFAS 133. We will be required to implement SFAS 133 in fiscal
year 2001. We have not determined the impact that SFAS 133 will have on
our financial statements, and we believe that such determination will not be
meaningful until closer to the date of initial adoption.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

1999 CHANGE 1998 CHANGE 1997
Cash, cash
equivalents,
and short-term
investments $498.7 83% §2725 (46)% $ 503.0
Working capital 5§ 3554 73%  $ 2050 (55)% $ 4543
Stockholders’

equity $5122 (08)% $ 5164 (28)% $7154

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments consist principally
of money market mutual funds, municipal bonds, and United States govern-
ment agency securities. All of our cash equivalents and short-term investments
are classified as available-for-sale under the provisions of SFAS 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” The securities are
carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included
in accumulated other comprehensive income, which is reflected as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity.

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments increased $226.2 million,
or 83%, in fiscal 1999, primarily due to cash generated from operations of
$334.2 million, proceeds from the issuance of treasury stock related to the
exercise of stock options under our stock option plans and sale of stock under
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $142.9 million, and the release of restricted
funds totaling $130.3 million associated with the refinancing of our corporate
headquarters lease agreement. Other sources of cash include the proceeds
from the sale of equity securities and the sale of a building in the amount of
$63.9 million and $40.6 million, respectively. In addition, short-term investments
increased due to a reclassification of $46.7 million of investments classified
as long-term to short-term as well as mark-to-market adjustments totaling
$81.2 million.

These factors were partially offset by the purchase of treasury stock in the amount
of $479.2 million, capital expenditures of $42.2 million, the purchase of other
assets for $43.5 million, the purchase of the assets of GoLive Systems and Attitude
Software for $36.9 million, and the payment of dividends totaling $12.2 million.

We expect to continue our investing activities, including expenditures for
computer systems for research and development, sales and marketing, product




support, and administrative staff. Furthermore, cash reserves may be used
to purchase treasury stock and acquire software companies, products, or tech-
nologies that are complementary to our business.

In September 1997, Adobe’s Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain
business and market conditions, the purchase of up to 30.0 million shares
of our common stock over a two-year period. We repurchased approximately
1.7 million shares in the first quarter of fiscal 1999, 20.3 million shares in
fiscal 1998, and 8.0 million shares in fiscal 1997, at a cost of $30.5 million,
$362.4 million, and $188.6 million, respectively. This program was completed
during the first quarter of fiscal 1999.

In April 1999, Adobe’s Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain business
and market conditions, the purchase of up to an additional 5.0 million shares
of our common stock over a two-year period. This new stock repurchase
program was in addition to an existing program whereby we have been authorized
to repurchase shares to offset issuances under employee stock option and
stock purchase plans. No purchases have been made under the 5.0 million
share repurchase program.

Under our existing plan to repurchase shares to offset issuances under
employee stock plans, we repurchased approximately 11.2 million, 0.7 million,
and 4.6 million shares in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively, at a cost of
$448.7 million, $16.8 million, and $87.0 million, respectively.

We have paid cash dividends on our common stock each quarter since the
second quarter of 1988. Adobe’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend
on our common stock of $0.025 per common share for each of the four quarters
in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997. On December 1, 1997, we dividended one share
of Siebel common stock for each 600 shares of Adobe common stock held

by stockholders of record on October 31, 1997. An equivalent cash dividend
was paid for holdings of less than 15,000 Adobe shares and for odd-lot and
fractional Siebel shares. Also, in fiscal 1997, we dividended one share of Netscape
common stock for each 200 shares of Adobe common stock held by stockholders
of record on July 31, 1997. An equivalent cash dividend was paid for holdings
of less than 5,000 Adobe shares and for fractional Netscape shares. The declara-
tion of future dividends, whether in cash or in-kind, is within the discretion

of Adobe’s Board of Directors and will depend on business conditions, our
results of operations and financial condition, and other factors.

To facilitate our stock repurchase program, we sold put warrants in a series of
private placements in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997. Each put warrant entitles the
holder to sell one share of our common stock to us at a specified price.
Approximately 6.0 million, 8.0 million, and 9.2 million put warrants were
written in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. At December 3, 1999,
approximately 2.7 million put warrants were outstanding that expire on various
dates through April 2000 and have exercise prices ranging from $40.16 to
$69.35 per share, with an average exercise price of $54.78 per share.

In addition, in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, we purchased call options that entitle
us to buy 2.9 million, 3.2 million, and 4.6 million shares, respectively, of our
common stock. At December 3, 1999, approximately 1.6 million call options
were outstanding that expire on various dates through April 2000 and have
exercise prices ranging from $43.42 to $74.83 per share, with an average exercise
price of $60.42 per share. Under these arrangements, at our option, we can settle
with physical delivery or net shares equal to the difference between the exercise
price and the value of the option as determined by the contract.
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We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments,
together with cash generated from operations, will provide sufficient funds
for us to meet our operating cash requirements in the foreseeable future.

Commitments

Our principal commitments as of December 3, 1999 consisted of obligations
under operating leases, a line of credit agreement, venture investing activities,
real estate development agreements, and various service agreements.

In fiscal 1994 and 1996, we entered into real estate development agreements
and operating lease agreements in connection with the construction of two
corporate headquarters office facilities in San Jose, California. The operating
lease agreement for the first office building commenced in 1996, and the
operating lease agreement for the second facility commenced in 1998. In
August 1999, we restructured these two lease agreements for our corporate
headquarters. The amended and restated agreement replaces the two prior
lease agreements commencing in 1996 and 1998, respectively. The lease is for
a period of five years and is subject to standard covenants including financial
ratios. We have an option to purchase the buildings at any time during the term
for an amount equal to the total investment of the lessor. At the end of the lease
term, we may exercise the purchase option or, with the mutual agreement of the
lessor, renew the term of the lease. In addition to these possibilities, at the end
of the term, we may elect to have the buildings sold to an unrelated third
party. In such case, we are obligated to use our best efforts to arrange for such

a sale and are obligated to pay the lessor the difference between the total
investment in the buildings and the net sales proceeds, provided, however, that
in no event would we be required to pay more than a maximum guaranteed
residual amount as set forth in the lease. In the event we default during the
term of the lease, the lessor could require us to purchase the buildings for an
amount equal to our option price. As of December 3, 1999, we were in com-
pliance with all financial covenants.

During 1998, we entered into a real estate development agreement for the
construction of an office building in Edinburgh, Scotland. During fiscal 1998
and 1999, we paid approximately $34.9 million for land, fees, and construction
costs. During fiscal 1999, we announced a Board-approved restructuring,
which resulted in the reduction in workforce primarily in our European head-
quarters in Edinburgh, Scotland. (For further information, see Note 7 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.) As a result of the restructuring, the
decision was made by management to sell the new facility in Edinburgh, and
the sale was completed in September 1999. We received $40.6 million cash
from the sale of the facility and realized a gain upon the sale of $5.7 million.
As of December 3, 1999, we had no commitments related to this building.

In August 1999, we entered into a $200.0 million unsecured revolving line of
credit with a group of 15 banks for general corporate purposes, subject to certain
financial covenants. One-half of the facility expires in August 2000 and the other
$100.0 million expires in August 2002. Outstanding balances accrue interest at
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin that is based on our
financial ratios. There were no outstanding balances on the credit facility as of
December 3, 1999, In addition, as of December 3, 1999, we were in compliance
with all financial covenants.

We believe that if the line of credit is canceled or amounts are not available
under the line, there would not be a material adverse effect on our financial
results, liquidity, or capital resources.

Under the terms of the line of credit and the lease agreement, we may pay cash
dividends unless an event of default has occurred or we do not meet certain
financial ratios.
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Derivatives and Financial Instruments

Foreign currency hedging instruments We transact business in various
foreign currencies, primarily in certain European countries and Japan.
Accordingly, we are subject to exposure from movements in foreign currency
exchange rates. This exposure is primarily related to yen denominated licenses
in Japan and local currency denominated operating expenses in Europe, where
we license primarily in U.S. dollars.

Our Japanese operating expenses are in yen, which mitigates a portion of the
exposure related to yen denominated licenses in Japan. In addition, we hedge
firmly committed transactions using primarily forward contracts. We also
hedge a percentage of forecasted international revenue with purchased options.
At December 3, 1999, total outstanding contracts included $17.0 million in
foreign currency forward exchange contracts and purchased Japanese yen put
option contracts with a notional value of $64.0 million. All contracts expire
at various times through December 2000. Our hedging policy is designed
to reduce the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements, and we
expect any gain or loss in the hedging portfolio to be offset by a corresponding
gain or loss in the underlying exposure being hedged.

A sensitivity analysis was performed on our hedging portfolio as of December 3,
1999. This sensitivity analysis was based on a modeling technique that measures
the hypothetical market value resulting from a 10% and 15% shift in the value
of exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar. An increase in the value of the
U.S. dollar (and a corresponding decrease in the value of the hedged foreign
currency asset) would lead to an increase in the fair value of our financial
hedging instruments by $2.6 million and $4.4 million, respectively. Conversely,
a decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar would result in a decrease in the fair
value of these financial instruments by $2.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

Our accounting policies for these instruments are based on our designation
of such instruments as hedging transactions. We recognize gains and losses
associated with the mark-to-market of outstanding foreign exchange forward
contracts that are designated and effective as hedges of existing transactions,
for which a firm commitment has been attained, as income in the current
period. Corresponding gains and losses on the foreign currency denominated
transactions being hedged are recognized as income in that same period. In this
manner, the gains and losses on foreign currency denominated transactions
will be offset by the gains and losses on the foreign currency contracts. We do
not anticipate any material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows as a result of these instruments. We use yen
options to hedge anticipated exposures.

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes,
nor do we hedge our foreign currency exposure in a manner that entirely
offsets the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates.

We currently do not use financial instruments to hedge local currency denomi-
nated operating expenses in Europe. Instead, we believe that a natural hedge
exists, in that local currency revenue from product upgrades substantially
offsets the local currency denominated operating expenses. We assess the
need to utilize financial instruments to hedge European currency exposure
on an ongoing basis.

We regularly review our hedging program and may as part of this review
determine at any time to change our hedging program.
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Fixed income investments At December 3, 1999, we had an investment
portfolio of fixed income securities, including those classified as cash equiva-
lents, of $327.0 million. These securities are subject to interest rate fluctua-
tions. An increase in interest rates could adversely affect the market value of
our fixed income securities.

A sensitivity analysis was performed on our investment portfolio as of
November 30, 1999. This sensitivity analysis was based on a modeling technique
that measures the hypothetical market value changes that would result from

a parallel shift in the yield curve of plus 50, plus 100, or plus 150 basis points
over six-month and twelve-month time horizons. The market value changes
for a 50, 100, or 150 basis point increase in short-term treasury security yields
were not material due to the limited duration of our portfolio.

We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio
to manage interest rate risk. We do, however, limit our exposure to interest

rate and credit risk by establishing and strictly monitoring clear policies and
guidelines for our fixed income portfolios. At the present time, the maximum
duration of all portfolios is limited to 2.3 years. The guidelines also establish
credit quality standards and limits on exposure to one issue, issuer, as well

as the type of instrument. Due to the limited duration and credit risk criteria
established in our guidelines, we do not expect the exposure to market and
credit risk to be material.

Facility leases We are exposed to interest rate risk associated with leases

of our facilities whose payments are tied to LIBOR and have evaluated the
hypothetical changes in lease obligations arising from selected hypothetical
changes in the LIBOR rate. Market changes reflected immediate hypothetical
parallel shifts in the LIBOR curve of plus or minus 50, 100, and 150 basis
points for a twelve-month period. Based on this analysis, such charges would
not be material to our results of operations or financial position.



CONSOL]DATED BALANCE SHEETS {In thousands, except per share data)

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27
1999 1998
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 171,145 $ 110871
Short-term investments 327,571 161,676
Receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $5,170 and $6,399, respectively 78,766 141,180
Deferred income taxes 36,185 32,028
Other current assets 9,348 10,190
Total current assets 623,015 455,945
Property and equipment, net 69,138 93,887
Deferred income taxes — 16,647
Other assets 111,706 200,852
$ 803,859 $ 767,331
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables $ 35692 $ 48,681
Accrued expenses 150,902 117,539
Accrued restructuring charges 8,675 8,867
Income taxes payable 56,684 64,546
Deferred revenue 15,676 11,333
Total current liabilities 267,629 250,966
Deferred income taxes 24,021 —
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 2,000 shares authorized; none issued -— —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; Authorized: 200,000 shares; Issued:

147,882 shares in 1999 and 1998; and additional paid-in capital 369,057 306,859
Retained earnings 896,239 732,730
Accumulated other comprehensive income 40,332 (1,879)
Treasury stock, at cost (29,343 and 26,100 shares in 1999 and 1998, respectively), net of reissuances (793,419) (521,345)

Total stockholders’ equity 512,209 516,365

$ 803,859 5 767,331

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

INCOME

{In thousands, except per share data)
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DECEMBER 3

NOVEMBER 27

NOVEMBER 28

YEARS ENDED 1999 1908 1997
Revenue $ 1,015,434 $ 894,791 $ 911,894
Direct costs 94,540 101,034 116,188
Gross profit 920,894 793,757 795,706
Operating expenses:
Research and development 197,476 188,261 165,859
Sales and marketing 328,505 315,544 290,096
General and administrative 103,622 118,615 101,050
Restructuring and other charges 23,028 38,245 (590)
Acquired in-process research and development 3,580 — 5,969
Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles 4,830 7,745 2,566
Total operating expenses 661,041 668,410 564,950
Operating income 259,853 125,347 230,756
Nonoperating income, net:
Investment gain, net 88,891 14,994 34,290
Interest and other income 25,683 27,353 31,044
Total nonoperating income, net 114,574 42,347 65,334
Income before income taxes 374,427 167,694 296,090
Income tax provision 136,676 62,550 109,253
Net income S 237,751 $ 105,144 $ 186,837
Basic net income per share $ 1.97 $ 079 . 130
Shares used in computing basic net income per share 120,786 132,866 143,924
Diluted net income per share S 1.84 S 077 $ 1.26
Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 129,205 135,948 148,320

See acc

ying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

p



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EQUITY

(In thousands)

COMMON STOCK

AND ADDITIONAL ACCUMULATED OTHER

PAID-IN CAPITAL RETAINED COMPREHENSIVE COMPREHENSIVE TREASURY 5TOCK
SHARES AMOUNT EARNING INCOME INCOME SHARES AMOUNT TOTAL
Balances as of November 29, 1996 142,952 S 148,602 $ 529,546 —_ S 28,366 -_— — $ 706,514
Comprehensive income:
Net income — - 186,837 $ 186,837 — — — 186,837
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized gains on investments — -— — 7416 — — — -
Reclassification adjustments on
unrealized gains on investments - — - (37,340) -— —_ = —
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments,
net of taxes of (517,499) —_ —_ —_ (29,924) (29,924) _— - (29,924)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — - - 528 528 — — 528
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — (29,396) — — — —
Comprehensive income, net of tax — — — $ 157,441 — — - —
Stock issued under employee stock and stock option plans 7,262 70,995 — — - — — 70,995
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans — 29,607 — — — — - 29,607
Stock compensation expense - 1,329 — — - — - 1,329
Dividends declared — — (52,522) - - — — (52,522)
Repurchase of common stock (2,332) (36,956) —_ —_ - (10,352) (238,688) (275,644)
Proceeds from sale of put warrants — 6,356 - — — — — 6,356
Reclassification of put warrant obligations — 71,348 —_ — — — — 71,348
Balances as of November 28, 1997 147,882 291,281 663,861 — (1,030) (10,352) (238,688) 715,424
Comprehensive income:
Net income —_— = 105,144 $ 105,144 - — — 105,144
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized gains on investments — — — (2,767) — — — —
Reclassification adjustments on
unrealized gains on investments = - — = = — — -
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments,
net of taxes of ($1,867) _ W s (2,767) (2,767) —_ —_ (2,767)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — —_ - 1,918 1,918 - — 1,918
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — _ (849) — - — —
Comprehensive income, net of tax — — - $ 104,295 — — — -
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans — 12,595 — — e — — 12,595
Stock compensation expense — 215 == — - — 2,298 2,513
Dividends declared — —_ (12,962) —_ — —_ —_ (12,962)
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — (21,026) (379,203) (379,203)
Reissuance of treasury stock under
employee stock and stock option plans — — (23,313) — — 5,278 94,248 70,935
Proceeds from sale of put warrants — 2,768 — — — — — 2,768
Balances as of November 27, 1998 147,882 $ 306,859 $ 732,730 — 5 (1,879) (26,100)  $ (521,345) $ 516,365

See accompanying Notes to i 1 Financial

(continued)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

EQUITY
(CONTINUED)

(In thousands)

COMMON 5TOCK
AND ADDITIONAL

ACCUMULATED OTHER

PAID-IN CAPITAL RETAINED COMPREHENSIVE COMPREHENSIVE TREASURY STOCK
SHARES AMOUNT EARNINGS INCOME INCOME SHARES AMOUNT TOTAL
Balances as of November 27, 1998 147,882 $ 306,859 $ 732,730 —_ S (1,879) (26,100)  $ (521,345) $ 516,365
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — 237,751 $ 237,751 - - - 237,751
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized gains on investments - — — 101,332 — — — —
Reclassification adjustments on
unrealized gains on investments - — — (58,524) — — — —
Net unrealized gains on investments,
net of taxes of 526,698 - — - 42,808 42,808 - — 42,808
Foreign currency translation adjustments — - — (597) (597) — — (597)
Other comprehensive income — — —_ 4 — - — -
Comprehensive income, net of tax — — — $ 279,962 —_ —_ — —
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans — 58478 - — — —_ — 58478
Stock compensation expense - 2,742 — — - - 2,530 5272
Dividends declared — — (12,623) — —_ — —_ (12,623)
Purchase of treasury stock — — - =3 = (13,106) (479,161) (479,161)
Reissuance of treasury stock under
employee stock and stock option plans - £t (61,619) — = 9,863 204,557 142,938
Proceeds from sale of put warrants — 978 — - - — — 978
Balances as of December 3, 1999 147,882 5 369,057 5 896,239 — $ 40,332 (29,343) 5 (793.419) $ 512,209

See accompanying Notes to | Financial St




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
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DECEMBER 3

NOVEMBER 27

NOVEMBER 28

VERRSRANER Sovals 5 o @ % o A 15 S e 3 & S e R s v e e L e e o v TR
Cash flows from operating activities:
MNet income § 237,751 S 105144 S 186,837
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 50,770 56,264 59,384
Deferred income taxes 694 (6,774) (4,172)
Provision for losses on receivables (3,319) 3,336 (440)
Gains on sales of equity securities (89,977) (15.337) (34,290)
Gain on sale of building (5,729) —_ —
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans 58,478 12,595 29,607
Stock compensation expense 5,272 2,513 1,329
Noncash restructuring and other charges 14,379 9,077 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 65,733 (14,390) (14711)
Other current assets 842 6,886 (2,351)
Trade and other payables (12,989) (8,461) 14,802
Accrued expenses 21,265 32,947 4,216
Accrued restructuring charges (14,571) 3914 (2,471)
Income taxes payable 1,257 17,125 (32,294)
Deferred revenue 4,343 (1,370) (2,768)
Net cash provided by operating activities 334,199 203,469 202,678
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments (270,960) (1,278,178) (2,657,302)
Maturities and sales of short-term investments 232,973 1,347,800 2,875,294
Proceeds from the release of restricted funds 130,260 — —
Acquisitions of property and equipment (42,206) (59,745) (33,882)
Additions to other assets (43,474) (57,520) (36,153)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (36,932) (3,544) (6,121)
Proceeds from the sale of building 40,613 — —
Proceeds from sales of equity securities 63,876 10,886 30,993
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 74,150 (40,301) 172,829
See accompanying Notes to 1 Financial Statements, (continued)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH

FLOWS (CONT'NUED] (In thousands)
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DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
T e r et el s aalat i s e N S e A el G e o e VT
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock S — s — $ 70,995
Purchase of treasury stock (479,161) (379,203) (275,644)
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock 142,938 70,935 -
Proceeds from sale of put warrants 978 2,768 6,356
Payment of dividends (12,233) (16,291) (20,911)
Net cash used for financing activities (347,478) (321,791) (219,204)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (597) 1,918 528
Net Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 60,274 (156,705) 156,831
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 110,871 267,576 110,745
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 171,145 $ 110,871 $ 267,576
Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid during the year for income taxes $ 68,770 s 224N $ 85062
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Cash dividends declared but not paid $ 3452 $ 3,062 § .+ 3558
Dividends in-kind declared but not distributed $ — 5 — $ 10,032
Dividends in-kind distributed $ — § 7397 $ 21,603
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes $ 42,808 $  (2,767) $ (29,924)
Adjustments related to the reissuance of treasury stock $ 58,877 5523313 $ —

See accompanying Notes to C lidated Financial 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Note 1« Significant Accounting Policies

Operations Founded in 1982, Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe” or
the “Company”) is a provider of graphic design, publishing, and imaging
software for Web and print production. The Company offers a market-leading
line of application software products, type products, and content for creating,
distributing, and managing information of all types; licenses its technology

to major hardware manufacturers, software developers, and service providers;
and offers integrated software solutions to businesses of all sizes. The Company
distributes its products through a network of distributors and dealers, value-
added resellers (“VARs”), systems integrators, and original equipment manu-
facturer (“OEM”) customers; direct to end users through Adobe call centers;
and through its own Web site at www.adobe.com. The Company has operations
in the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), and Asia.

Fiscal year The Company’s fiscal year is a 52/53-week year ending on the
Friday closest to November 30.

Basis of consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements
include those of Adobe and its subsidiaries, after elimination of all inter-
company accounts and transactions,

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash equivalents and short-term investments Cash equivalents consist of
instruments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.

All of the Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments, and
certain restricted funds and noncurrent investments in equity securities, free
of trading restrictions or to become free of trading restrictions within one year,
are classified as “available-for-sale.” These investments are carried at fair value,
based on quoted market prices, and unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes,
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income, which is reflected
as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses
upon sale or maturity of these investments are determined using the specific
identification method.

Foreign currency translation Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries,
whose functional currency is the local currency, are translated at year-end
exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rates of
exchange prevailing during the year. The adjustment resulting from translating
the financial statements of such foreign subsidiaries is included in accumulated
other comprehensive income, which is reflected as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. Certain other transaction gains or losses, which have not
been material, are reported in results of operations.

Property and equipment Property and equipment are recorded at cost.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method
over the shorter of the estimated useful lives (thirty-five years for the building;
two to seven years for furniture and equipment) or lease terms (five to nine
years for leasehold improvements) of the respective assets.

Other assets Purchased technology, goodwill, and certain other intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is recorded
utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets, generally three to seven years. Capitalization of computer
software development costs, when material, begins upon the establishment
of technological feasibility, which is generally the completion of a working



prototype that has been certified as having no critical bugs and is a release
candidate. To date, software development costs incurred between completion
of a working prototype and general availability of the related product have
not been material.

Long-lived assets The Company reviews property and equipment for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of property and
equipment is measured by comparison of its carrying amount to undiscounted
future net cash flows the property and equipment are expected to generate. If
such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the property and
equipment exceeds its fair market value, as determined by discounted cash
flows. The Company assesses the recoverability of enterprise-level goodwill
by determining whether the unamortized goodwill balance can be recovered
through undiscounted future results of the acquired operation. The amount
of enterprise-level goodwill impairment, if any, is measured based on projected
discounted future results using a discount rate reflecting the Company’s aver-
age cost of funds.

Employee stock plans The Company accounts for its employee stock plans,
which consist of fixed stock option plans, an employee stock purchase plan,
and a performance and restricted stock plan, using the intrinsic value method.

Revenue recognition Application products revenue is recognized upon ship-
ment, provided collection is determined to be probable and no significant
obligations remain, The Company provides to application products customers
free telephone support, for which the expense is accrued, up to a maximum of
90 days beginning upon the customer’s first call. The cost of telephone support
is amortized as the obligation is fulfilled. Revenue from distributors is subject to

agreements allowing limited rights of return, rebates, and price protection, The
Company provides for estimated future returns, and price protection when
given, at the time the related revenue is recorded.

Licensing revenue, primarily royalties, is recorded when OEM customers
ship products incorporating Adobe software, provided collection of such revenue
is probable. The Company has no remaining obligation in relation to such
licensing revenue.

Deferred revenue includes customer advances under OEM licensing agreements,
Additionally, maintenance revenue for application products is deferred
and recognized ratably over the term of the contract, generally twelve months.

Direct costs Direct costs include product packaging, third-party royalties,
amortization related to localization costs and acquired technologies, and
reserves for excess and obsolete inventory.

Income taxes The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting
for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis
of existing assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce tax
assets to an amount whose realization is more likely than not.

Foreign currency hedging instruments The Company enters into foreign
exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks. Such contracts must be
effective at reducing the foreign currency risk associated with the underlying
transaction being hedged and must be designated as a hedge at the inception
of the contract. The Company, as a matter of policy, does not engage in
speculative transactions.
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The Company currently uses forward contracts as hedges of firmly committed
transactions. For these contracts, mark-to-market gains and losses are recognized
as other income or expense in the current period, generally consistent with the
period in which the gain or loss of the underlying transaction is recognized.
As of December 3, 1999, the majority of all forward foreign currency contracts
entered into by the Company had maturities of 90 days or less.

Put warrants and call options The Company utilizes put warrants and call
options (“puts and calls”) to facilitate the repurchase of its common stock.
The puts and calls permit, at the Company’s option, physical delivery or net
share settlement equal to the difference between the exercise price and the
value of the option as determined by the contract. Accordingly, in-the-money
put warrants do not result in a liability on the balance sheet.

Stock split The Company’s Board of Directors approved a two-for-one
stock split in the form of a stock dividend of the Company’s common stock
to stockholders of record on October 4, 1999 effected October 26, 1999,
All share and per share amounts referred to in the consolidated financial
statements have been adjusted to reflect this stock split.

Comprehensive income The Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 130 (“SFAS 130”), “Reporting Comprehensive
Income;’ on November 28, 1998. SFAS 130 establishes standards for the reporting
and display of comprehensive income and its components in the financial
statements, Items of comprehensive income (loss) that the Company currently
reports are unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities categorized as
available-for-sale and foreign currency translation adjustments. Comprehensive
income and its components are displayed on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income.

Recent accounting pronouncements In December 1998, the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “AICPA”) issued Statement of
Position No. 98-9 (“SOP 98-9”), “Modifications of SOP 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions,” which amends
SOP 97-2 and supersedes SOP 98-4. SOP 98-9 requires recognition of revenue
using the “residual method” in a multiple-element software arrangement when
fair value does not exist for one or more of the delivered elements in the
arrangement. Under the “residual method,” the total fair value of the unde-
livered elements is deferred and recognized in accordance with SOP 97-2.
The Company will adopt SOP 98-9 in fiscal 2000. The adoption of SOP 98-9 is
not expected to have a significant impact on the Company.

In March 1998, the AICPA issued SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” which provides
guidance on accounting for the costs of developing computer software intended
for internal use. The Company must adopt SOP 98-1 effective as of fiscal 2000,
and the adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
results of operations or financial position.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB") issued
SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative financial
instruments and hedging activities and requires the Company to recognize all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure them
at fair value. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value would be
accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it is designated
and qualifies for hedge accounting. In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS 137,
which defers the implementation of SFAS 133. The Company will be required
to implement SFAS 133 in its fiscal year 2001, The Company has not determined



the impact that SFAS 133 will have on its financial statements and believes
that such determination will not be meaningful until closer to the date of
initial adoption.

Reclassifications Certain reclassifications were made to the fiscal 1998 and
1997 consolidated financial statements to conform to the fiscal 1999 presenta-
tion, including certain reclassifications within operating expenses and between
operating expenses and direct costs that were made to enable management to
better analyze financial results, These reclassifications did not impact total
operating profit in fiscal 1998 and 1997.

Note 2 « Acquisitions

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired substantially
all of the assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Attitude Software, LLC
(“Attitude Software”). The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 16 (“APB 16”), and substantially all of the purchase price of
$3.0 million cash was allocated to in-process research and development and
expensed at the time of acquisition. The ongoing project at Attitude Software
at the time of the purchase included the development of the 3D Anarchy
authoring product. This technology was purchased for incorporation into
future versions of existing Adobe products to further enhance the feature sets
and user interface contained within the products. At the date the Company
acquired Attitude Software, it was estimated that 50% of the development
effort had been completed and that the remaining 50% of the development
effort would take approximately eighteen months to complete and would
cost $1.8 million. The efforts required to complete the development of the tech-
nology primarily relate to additional design efforts to integrate the technolo-
gies into several of the Company’s products, finalization of coding, and
completion testing. The value of the in-process technology was determined
by estimating the projected net cash flows related to products the technology
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will be integrated into, including costs to complete the development of the
technology and the future net revenues that may be earned from the products,
excluding the value attributed to the existing technology with the products
prior to the integration of the purchased technology. These cash flows were
discounted back to their net present value using a discount rate of 20%, exclu-
sive of the value attributable to the use of the in-process technologies in future
products,

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired
substantially all of the assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Photomerge
Technology. In connection with the acquisition of Photomerge Technology,
100% of the purchase price, or $600,000 cash, was allocated to in-process
research and development, due to the state of completion and the uncertainty
of the technology.

On January 4, 1999, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets,
consisting of intellectual property and a minimal amount of fixed assets, of
both GoLive Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and GoLive Systems GmbH
and Co. KG, a German limited partnership (together “GoLive Systems”). GoLive
Systems creates Web site development software, which enables users to effectively
use the Internet for professional publishing and communication. The acquisition
was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance
with APB 16. The initial purchase price of the acquisition was approximately
$31.0 million cash, plus additional contingency payments of up to $8.0 million
based on achieving certain technical and employment milestones. The Company
determined that certain milestones had been reached as of March 5, 1999,
and as such, $4.0 million in contingent payments were recorded as additional
purchase price and paid throughout fiscal 1999. Approximately $11.4 million
of the purchase price was allocated to the developed technology, and the
remaining $23.6 million was allocated to trademark, the value of the assembled
workforce, and goodwill.
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During fiscal 1997, the Company acquired three software companies, in separate
transactions, for an aggregate consideration of approximately $8.5 million.
These acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting,
and approximately $6.0 million of the purchase price was allocated to in-process
research and development and expensed at the time of the acquisition. One of
the in-process technologies acquired for $2.5 million was discontinued in fiscal
1998. The project associated with an additional $2.8 million of the purchased
in-process technology was canceled as part of the restructuring in the third
quarter of fiscal 1998 and subsequently sold to a management-led buyout group.

Note 3 » Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments
All cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments consisted of the following:

UNREALIZED UMNREALIZED  ESTIMATED

AS OF DECEMBER 3, 1999 cosT GAINS LOSSES  FAIR VALUE
Cash $ 42452 $ —— ] — § 42452
Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds 52,135 - — 52,135
Time deposit 5,000 — — 5,000
State and municipal
bonds and notes 66,575 — — 66,575
United States government
agency notes 4,983 — —_ 4,983
Total cash equivalents 128,693 — - 128,693
Total cash and cash equivalents 171,145 — — 171,145
Short-term investments:
State and municipal bonds 198,284 441 (666) 198,059
Other marketable equity
securities 46,694 83,817 (999) 129,512
Total short-term investments 244,978 84,258 (1,665) 327,571
Total securities S 416,123 S 84,258 $ (1,665) S 498,716

UNREALIZED UNREALIZED ESTIMATED
AS OF NOVEMBER 27, 1998 COST GAINS LOSSES FAIR VALUE

Classified as current assets:

Cash $ 30755 § — $ — § 30755
Cash equivalents:
Money market
mutual funds 34,583 — — 34,583
State and municipal
bonds and notes 45,533 — — 45,533
Total cash equivalents 80,116 80,116
Total cash and cash equivalents 110,871 - — 110,871
Short-term investments:
State and municipal bonds 156,344 1,435 (63) 157,716
United States government
treasury notes 3,952 7 —_ 3,959
Other marketable equity
securities 1 — — 1
Total short-term investments 160,297 1,442 (63) 161,676
Total current securities 271168 1442 (63) 272547
Classified as noncurrent assets: \é
Money market mutual funds 66000 @ — - 66,000
Total securities $ 337,168 $ 1442 $ (63) § 338547

Approximately $128.7 million and $80.1 million in investments are classified
as cash equivalents as of December 3, 1999 and November 27, 1998, respectively,
and all noncurrent investments are included in other assets. Unrealized
gains (losses) on all securities, net of taxes, are included in accumulated
other comprehensive income, which is a separate component of stockholders’
equity, and totaled $43.6 million and $0.8 million as of December 3, 1999
and November 27, 1998, respectively. Net realized gains for the years ended
December 3, 1999 and November 27, 1998 of §53.7 million and $12.9 million,
respectively, are included in nonoperating income.
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As of December 3, 1999, the cost and estimated fair value of current debt securities
and money market mutual funds with a maturity of one year or less were
$176.0 million and $176.2 million, respectively, and the cost and estimated fair
value of current debt securities with maturities ranging from one to five years
were $151.0 million and $150.6 million, respectively. These securities are
classified as current assets based on the Company’s intent and ability to
use these securities as necessary to satisfy significant short-term liquidity
requirements that may arise.

Note 4  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27
1999 1998
Land $ 846 S 7421
Building 4,477 4,477
Equipment 156,658 156,324
Furniture and fixtures 26,840 28,464
Capital projects in-progress 6,592 —
Leasehold improvements 25,795 24,829
221,208 221,515

Less accumulated
depreciation and amortization 152,070 127,628
$ 69,138 $ 93,887

Note 5 « Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27

1999 1998

Investments $ 75793 $ 56,332
Purchased technology

and licensing agreements 17,505 3,502

Restricted funds and security deposits - 130,260

Intangibles and other assets 53,387 27,527

146,685 217,621

Less accumulated amortization 34,979 16,769

$ 111,706 $ 200,852

The Company owns a minority interest in certain companies and a majority
interest in Adobe Ventures L.P.; Adobe Ventures I, L.P; and Adobe Ventures
IT1, L.P. The limited partnership investments are accounted for under the
equity method, as contractually the partnerships are controlled by the general
partner, a third party.

The investments in Adobe Ventures L.P.,; Adobe Ventures II, L.P.; and
Adobe Ventures 111, L.P., which were established to enable the Company
to invest in emerging technology companies strategic to Adobe’s software busi-
ness, totaled $17.1 million, $31.9 million, and $16.1 million, respectively, as of
December 3, 1999, and totaled $20.0 million, $22.3 million, and nil, respectively,
as of November 27, 1998. The Company’s investments in the limited partner-
ships are adjusted to reflect its equity interest in Adobe Ventures L.P.; Adobe
Ventures 11, L.P; and Adobe Ventures 111, L.P’s investment income (loss) and
dividend distributions, which totaled $12.4 million, $346,000, and $(1.3) million
in fiscal years 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. Adobe Ventures L.P; Adobe
Ventures II, L.P.; and Adobe Ventures 111, L.P. carry their investments in



60

equity securities at an estimated fair market value, and unrealized gains and
losses are included in investment income (loss). The stock of substantially all
of the technology companies held by the limited partnerships at December 3,
1999 is not publicly traded, and therefore, there is no established market for
these investments. As such, these investments are valued based on the most
recent round of financing involving new nonstrategic investors and estimates
made by the general partner, a third party. When investments held by the limited
partnerships are publicly traded, the fair value of such investments is based
on quoted market prices, and mark-to-market adjustments are included in
investment income.

The Company owns minority interests in certain technology companies totaling
$10.6 million and $14.0 million as of December 3, 1999 and November 27, 1998,
respectively. Investments in equity securities that are not publicly traded, or
are restricted from trading for more than one year, are carried at the lower
of cost or market.

The Company’s portfolio of equity investments at December 3, 1999 had
a cost basis of $67.5 million and a fair market value of $75.8 million. (For
further information, see Note 9.)

As of December 3, 1999, the Company did not have any restricted funds or
pledged collateral. The Company had deposited funds with a lessor as an interest-
bearing security deposit totaling $64.3 million as of November 27, 1998. In
addition, as of November 27, 1998, the Company had pledged collateral with
a lessor comprised of money market mutual funds totaling $66.0 million.

As of December 3, 1999, intangibles and other assets consist primarily of
goodwill in the amount of $26.4 million, capitalized localization of $18.0 million,
and other intangible assets of $8.9 million. Amortization expense related to

goodwill, purchased technology, capitalized localization, and other intangible
assets was $21.6 million and $20.4 million in fiscal 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Note 6 « Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27
1999 1998
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 65957 5 41,592
Sales and marketing allowances 9,990 13,439
Minority interest 17,737 1,525
Other 57,218 60,983
$ 150,902 $117,539

Note 7 * Restructuring and Other Charges

During fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Company implemented three different
Board-approved restructuring programs. These unique restructuring programs
were directly focused on improving the Company’s competitive position as
well as enhancing the Company’s allocation of resources. In addition to these
three restructurings, the Company also implemented restructuring programs
in fiscal 1994 and 1995 related to the Aldus Corporation (“Aldus”) and Frame
Technology Corporation (“Frame”) acquisitions. As of December 3, 1999,
there was no restructuring liability remaining for restructuring programs prior
to fiscal 1998.

The fourth quarter 1999 restructuring program was implemented to enhance
the Company’s worldwide customer support activity and to streamline the
product distribution and warehouse operations in North America. The pro-
gram resulted in severance and related charges for 86 positions and included
charges for vacating leased facilities.



61

The 1999 restructuring program implemented in the second and third quarters
was directly related to the centralization of the Company’s worldwide sales

and administrative organizations and the realignment of the Company’s Printing
Solutions business. The program included a reduction in force of 198 positions,
two of which were executive positions. In addition to severance and related
charges, the restructuring program included charges for vacating leased facilities.

The 1998 restructuring program was implemented to refocus the Company’s
product development efforts and to eliminate management redundancies in
the organization. This program consisted of severance and related charges for
364 positions, four of which were executive positions. Moreover, the Company
divested two business units, canceled certain contracts, and vacated leased facilities.

Fiscal 1999 restructuring programs The restructuring program implemented
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999 included a reduction in force of 86 positions
and the closure of the North American distribution warehouse as a result

of the decision to outsource the Company’s North American distribution
operation and the majority of its customer support services. The reduction

in force primarily affected employees in Seattle, Washington and Santa Clara,
California. Total charges incurred as a result of the restructuring were
$2.1 million, which include severance and related charges associated with
the reduction in force and charges related to vacating leased facilities. As of
December 3, 1999, $2.1 million remains accrued and is expected to be paid
by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2000.

The following table depicts the activity for the 1999 fourth-quarter restructuring
program through December 3, 1999:

ACCRUED

BALANCE AT

TOTAL CASH WRITE- DECEMBER 3

CHARGES PAYMENTS DOWNS 1999

Severance and related charges $1,953 $§ — § — $1,953

Lease termination costs 103 — — 103
Impairment of leasehold improvements

at vacated facilities 90 — (90) —

$2,146 = $ (90) $ 2,056

Severance and related charges include involuntary termination and COBRA
benefits, outplacement costs, and payroll taxes for 86 employees, or 3% of the
worldwide workforce. The reduction in force consisted of 72 employees from
the customer service and technical support departments and 14 employees
from the North American distribution operation. The decision was made to
outsource a majority of these functions to achieve higher quality customer service
and improve time-to-market efficiencies for product distribution.

Lease termination costs of $0.1 million represent remaining lease liabilities
related to the Santa Clara distribution center. Impairment of leasehold
improvements represents charges for the write-down of the net book value of
equipment specifically identified under the restructuring program as assets
held for disposal. These assets were written down in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”

The restructuring program implemented throughout the second and third
quarters of fiscal 1999 included a reduction in force of 198 positions, two

of which were executive positions. The reduction in force primarily affected
the Company’s European headquarters in Edinburgh, Scotland and its North
American headquarters in San Jose, California. In addition to severance and
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related charges associated with the reduction in force, the restructuring pro-
gram included charges for vacating leased facilities. These restructuring actions
in the second and third quarters of fiscal 1999 resulted in total charges of
$17.6 million, of which approximately $0.1 million were noncash charges. Of the
$17.6 million in total charges, $5.9 million remains accrued at December 3, 1999.

In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, the Company revised its estimate
of the total costs associated with the program described above, resulting in
an adjustment to the second-quarter restructuring accrual of approximately
$3.2 million. Approximately $3.0 million of the adjustment reflects lower
than estimated severance and related charges primarily attributable to employees
impacted by the restructuring who were able to find alternative employment
within the Company. The remaining adjustment was due to lower than expected
charges related to vacating leased facilities.

The following table depicts the activity for the 1999 second-quarter restructuring
program through December 3, 1999:

ACCRUED
BALANCE AT
TOTAL CASH  WRITE- DECEMBER 3
CHARGES PAYMENTS DOWNS ADIUSTMENTS 1999
Severance and
related charges S 14641 $(6458) $§ — $ (2,976) $ 5,207
Lease termination costs 2,545 (1,838) — (272) 435
Impairment of
leasehold improvements
at vacated facilities 132 — (132) — —
Other charges 259 (54) — - 205

$ 17,577 $ (8,350) (132) $ (3,248) $ 5,847

Severance and related charges include involuntary termination and COBRA
benefits, outplacement costs, and payroll taxes for 198 employees, or

7% of the worldwide workforce. The terminations were in the following areas:
42 in research and development, 107 in sales and marketing, and 49 in
general and administrative.

The reduction in force within research and development consisted of employees
in the Company’s Printing Solutions business in San Jose, California and was
implemented in order to realign product development expenses with the
Company’s operating targets. The majority of these terminations were completed
by August 31, 1999, and the remaining termination benefits will be paid
through the first quarter of fiscal 2000.

The phasing out of the European headquarters in Edinburgh, Scotland was
implemented to reduce redundancies within the organization and resulted in
a reduction in force of 48 general and administrative staff and 43 sales and
marketing staff. The closure of the European headquarters was completed by
December 31, 1999, and all termination benefits will be paid through the first
quarter of fiscal 2000.

The remaining terminations in the sales and marketing organization were
primarily due to the centralization of the North American sales and marketing
organization. The remaining general and administrative reductions were due
to the elimination of redundancies throughout the organization. The majority
of these terminations were completed by June 30, 1999, and the termination
benefits will be paid through the first quarter of fiscal 2000.

Lease termination costs of $0.4 million include remaining lease liabilities,
brokerage fees, restoration charges, and legal fees offset by estimated sublease
income related to facilities in the United States, Australia, Scotland, and Japan
that will be vacated as part of the restructuring program. The facilities will
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be vacated as a result of the elimination of staff and organizational decisions
associated with the centralization of certain activities in San Jose, California.
The remaining accrual balance as of December 3, 1999 is expected to be paid
through the second quarter of fiscal 2000,

Charges related to the impairment of leasehold improvements at vacated facili-
ties of $0.1 million included the write-down of the net book value of leasehold
improvements, furniture, and equipment used in the vacated facilities. These
assets were written down in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 121.

Other charges of $0.3 million included legal and accounting fees incurred in
Edinburgh and North America associated with employee terminations as part
of the reduction in force. The remaining accrual balance as of December 3,
1999 is expected to be paid by the second quarter of fiscal 2000.

Previously announced restructuring programs The following table depicts
the activity for previously announced restructuring programs through
December 3, 1999:

ACCRUED ACCRUED
BALANCE AT BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER 27 TOTAL CASH DECEMBER 3
1998 CHARGES PAYMENTS ADJUSTMENTS 1999
Accrual related to
previous restructurings 5 8,867 $=— §(6221) S (1,874) $ 772

As of December 3, 1999, approximately $0.8 million in accrued restructuring
costs remain related to the Company’s fiscal 1998 restructuring program.
This balance is comprised of $0.3 million in severance and related charges,
$0.1 million in lease termination costs, and $0.4 million in canceled contracts.
The majority of the accrual is expected to be paid by the first quarter of fiscal
2000. Cash payments for the twelve months ended December 3, 1999 related
to the fiscal 1998 restructuring were $0.7 million, $3.6 million, and $0.4 mil-
lion for severance and related charges, lease termination costs, and canceled

contracts costs, respectively. In addition, adjustments related to the fiscal 1998
restructuring were made during the year, which consisted of $0.4 million related
to estimated lease termination costs and $0.3 million related to other charges.

Included in the accrual balance as of November 27, 1998 were lease termination
costs related to previously announced restructuring programs in fiscal 1994
and 1995. Cash payments for the twelve months ended December 3, 1999 related
to both restructuring programs were $1.5 million. During the third and fourth
quarters of fiscal 1999, the Company recorded adjustments to the accrual
balance of approximately $1.2 million related to these programs. An adjustment
of $0.6 million was made in the third quarter of fiscal 1999 due to the Company’s
success in terminating a lease agreement earlier than the contract term specified.
In addition, $0.6 million was reduced from the restructuring accrual relating
to expired lease termination costs for two facilities resulting from the merger
with Frame in fiscal 1995. As of December 3, 1999, no accrual balances remain
related to the Aldus and Frame mergers.

Other charges During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, the Company
recorded other charges of $8.4 million that were unusual in nature. These
charges included $2.0 million associated with the cancellation of a contract
and $2.2 million for accelerated depreciation related to the adjustment of the
useful life of certain assets as a result of decisions made by management as
part of the restructuring program. Additionally, the Company incurred a non-
recurring compensation charge totaling $2.6 million for a terminated employee
and incurred consulting fees of $1.6 million to assist in the restructuring of the
Company’s operations.



Note 8 « Income Taxes DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28

YEARS ENDED 1999 1998 1997
Income before income taxes includes net income from foreign operationsof ~ * ** " e i SRSV Sl 0 o T A Y B
approximately $23.1 million, $18.8 million, and $59.3 million for the years ended Computed "expacted”tax epense . 4 131,050 K R1RA
December 3, 1999; November 27, 1998; and N ber 28, 1997, respectively. State tax expense, net of federal benefit 14,419 6,068 10,301
Nondeductible write-off of acquired
The provision for income taxes consisted of the following: in-process research and development = = A7
DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28 Nendsductiole gpodwil " i e
YEARSENDED 1999 § g 2. TP ) 1997 Tax-exempt income (2,650) (4,190) (5,559)
Tax credits (2,450) (4,708) (4,604)
Current: Forel differential 1,406 1,864
United States federal $ 54,007 § 34,466 § 42,238 0‘::'9" ::x el 5 6;3) ey o
er, n
Forei 11,346 15,394 9, ; : : 3
- e $ 136,676 $ 62,550 $ 109,253

State and local 12,061 6,869 12,320
Total current 77,504 56,729 83,818 The tax effects of the temporary differences that give rise to significant
Deferred: portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of fiscal 1999 and 1998 are

United States federal (569) (4,312) (1,721) presented below:

Foreign 1,810 (1,500) (2,071)

State and local (547) (962) (380) YEARS ENDED Dectmsf:lg: NDUEMBE&;E
= 5 i P i R e T e G SRR e o &Y ARl W el e A e T
Charge in lieu of taxes attributable Def:;rec: t;x ass:ts:l s $ 14,099

cquired technology 14,916 f
to empl tock pl 58,478 12,5 ,607
o empoyee stock pans ¢ 13:'5?6 S 525 2: &0 Reserves and deferred revenue 38,159 30,655
2 350 $ 109253 Net operating loss carryforwards 933 2171
Total income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense (computed by Frovestmenis T i
multiplying the United States federal statutory rate of approximately 35% for Other g1 2362
fiscl : : Total gross deferred tax assets 54,829 52475

scal years 1999, 1998, and 1997 by income before income taxes) as a result Deferied s ascatvaluationallowancs (1,458) (2,696)

of the following: Total deferred tax assets 53,371 49,779
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (3,176) (1,076)

Unrealized gain of investments (37,867) —

Other (164) (28)

Total deferred tax liabilities (41,207) (1,104)

Net deferred tax assets $ 12,164 S 48,675
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The Company provides United States income taxes on the earnings of foreign
subsidiaries unless the subsidiaries’ earnings are considered permanently
reinvested outside the United States,

As of December 3, 1999, the Company has foreign operating loss carryovers
in various jurisdictions of approximately $2.0 million with various expiration
dates. For financial reporting purposes, a valuation allowance has been estab-
lished to fully offset the deferred tax assets related to foreign operating losses
due to uncertainties in utilizing these losses. A valuation allowance has also
been established for certain deductions related to investments. Management
believes that it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will
generate sufficient taxable income to realize the net deferred tax assets.

Note 9 = Benefit Plans

Pretax savings plan In 1987, the Company adopted an Employee Investment
Plan, qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, which is

a pretax savings plan covering substantially all of the Company’s United States
employees. Under the plan, eligible employees may contribute up to 18%

of their pretax salary, subject to certain limitations. The Company matched
approximately 25% of the first 6% of employee contributions and contributed
approximately $2.2 million, $2.4 million, and $1.8 million in fiscal 1999, 1998,
and 1997, respectively. Beginning in fiscal 2000, the Company will match
50% of the first 6% of employee contributions. Matching contributions can
be terminated at the Company’s discretion.

Profit sharing plan The Company has a profit sharing plan that provides for
profit sharing payments to all eligible employees following each quarter in which
the Company achieved at least 70% of its budgeted earnings for the quarter.
Beginning in fiscal 2000, the percentage of its budgeted earnings that the
Company must achieve increases to 80%. The plan, as well as the annual oper-

ating budget on which the plan is based, is approved by the Company’s Board
of Directors. The Company contributed approximately $23.2 million, $6.8 million,
and $11.8 million to the plan in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Adobe Incentive Partners In March 1997, as part of its venture investing
program, the Company established an internal limited partnership, Adobe
Incentive Partners, L.P. (“AIP”), which allows certain of the Company’s executive
officers to participate in cash or stock distributions from Adobe’s venture
investments. Adobe is both the general partner and a limited partner of AIP.
Other limited partners are executive officers and former executive officers of
the Company who are or were involved in Adobe’s venture investing activities
and whose participation is deemed critical to the success of the program.

Adobe’s Class A senior limited partnership interest includes both a liquidation
preference and a preference in recovery of the cost basis of each specific invest-
ment. The executives’ Class B junior limited partnership interest qualifies for
partnership distributions only after: (a) Adobe has fully recovered the cost
basis of its investment in the specific investee company for which a distribution
is made; and (b) the participating executive has vested in his or her distribution
rights. The distribution rights generally vest on a monthly basis over three
years, such that the rights are 25% vested after one year, 50% vested after two
years, and fully vested at the end of three years. The limited partnership invest-
ments are restricted to investments in companies that are private at the time

of the establishment of AIP or when the investment is made, whichever is later,
Partnership interests may be allocated to designated officers only while the
investee company is still private. Class B interests may not exceed a maximum
of 20% of the venture investments included in AIP.

Assets held by AIP include Adobe’s entire interests in Adobe Ventures L.P.
and Adobe Ventures 11, L.P. as well as equity securities of certain privately held
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companies. At December 3, 1999, the cost basis and recorded fair value of all
investments included in AIP were $114.2 million and $205.4 million, respectively.
In fiscal 1999, AIP recorded net income of $96.4 million. The participating
officers received aggregate distributions of $7.5 million in fiscal 1999. The
distribution to the officers represents their vested portion of nonmarketable
securities that become marketable as a result of a public offering, as well as their
vested portion of cash resulting from investments that were liquidated by AIP.
The participating officers receive quarterly cash distributions as their partnership
interests vest for investments that have been liquidated by AIP. At December 3,
1999, the minority interest held by the participating officers was $17.7 million
and is included in accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Note 10 * Employee Stock Plans

Stock Option Plans As of December 3, 1999, the Company had reserved

67.0 million shares of common stock for issuance under its 1994 and 1999
Stock Option Plans (the “Option Plans”) for employees, which provide for
the granting of stock options to employees and officers at the fair market value
of the Company’s common stock at the grant date. Initial options granted
under the Option Plans generally vest 25% after the first year and ratably
thereafter such that 50% and 100% are vested after the second and third year,
respectively; subsequent options granted under the Option Plans generally vest
ratably over the entire term such that 50% and 100% are vested after the
second and third year, respectively. Outstanding option terms under all of the
Company’s employee stock option plans range from five to ten years,

As of December 3, 1999, the Company had reserved 1.0 million shares of com-
mon stock for issuance under its 1996 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan,
which provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options to nonemployee
directors. In December 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an

increase in the number of shares reserved under the 1997 Outside Directors
Stock Option Plan of 250,000 to an aggregate of 1.25 million shares, subject to
stockholder approval. Option grants are limited to 20,000 shares per person in
each fiscal year, except for a new nonemployee director, who is granted 30,000
shares upon election as a director. All options are exercisable as vested within a
ten-year term. Options generally vest over three years: 25% on the day preced-
ing each of the next two annual meetings of stockholders of the Company and
50% on the day preceding the third annual meeting of stockholders of the
Company after the grant of the option. The exercise price of the options that
are issued is equal to the fair value on the date of grant. In fiscal 1999, the
Company granted options for 40,000 shares with exercise prices of $29.72. In
fiscal 1998, the Company granted options for 100,000 shares with exercise prices
of $22.66 and an option for 30,000 shares to a new director with an exercise
price of $21.03. In fiscal 1997, options for 100,000 shares were granted with
exercise prices of $20.97.

On September 23, 1998, the Board of Directors approved a stock option repricing
program whereby each eligible stock option was automatically amended to
have an exercise price equal to $16.9063. As a result, approximately 10.1 million
options were amended by eligible employees for an equal number of repriced
options. All other terms of the options, including expiration dates, remain
substantially the same.



Stock option activity for fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997 is presented below: Information regarding the stock options outstanding at December 3, 1999 is

summarized below:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3, 1999 NOVEMBER 27,1998 NOVEMBER 28, 1997
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Exerdlsatl e ] ML $2972 — §$4269 689,650 7.60years  36.09 24,265 3250
end of year 4,899,741  15.84 8736636 1429 9,125908  13.25 $49.19 — §68.56 635,425 7.85years  59.48 24 5231
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options granted e S E T T
during the year $2331 $13.84 $1568

Performance and Restricted Stock Plan The Performance and Restricted
Stock Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the granting of restricted stock and/or
performance awards to officers and key employees. As of December 3, 1999,
the Company had reserved 4.0 million shares of its common stock for issuance
under the Plan. Restricted shares issued under the Plan generally vest annually
between two to three years but are considered outstanding at the time of grant,
as the stockholders are entitled to dividends and voting rights. As of December 3,
1999, 565,177 shares were outstanding and not yet vested.

In fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company granted 523,960; 37,700; and 259,100
shares of restricted stock, respectively, and the weighted average fair value of




the shares was $45.41, $20.74, and $19.52, respectively. Additionally, the Company
charged $5.3 million, $2.3 million, and $3.5 million to expense associated with
restricted stock in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Performance awards issued under the Plan entitle the recipient to receive,

at the discretion of the Company, shares or cash upon completion of the per-
formance period subject to attaining identified performance goals. Performance
awards are generally measured over a three-year period and cliff vest at the end
of the three-year period. The projected value of these awards is accrued by
the Company and charged to expense over the three-year performance period.
As of December 3, 1999; November 27, 1998; and November 28, 1997, perfor-
mance awards for 320,360; 403,740; and 341,748 shares were outstanding,
respectively, and $(0.4) million, $(2.2) million, and $1.5 million were charged
(credited) to expense in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. No performance
awards were granted in fiscal 1999. In fiscal 1998 and 1997, performance awards
were granted for 243,640 and 313,000 shares, respectively, and the weighted
average fair value of the shares was $17.24 and $19.52, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase
Plan allows eligible employee participants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock at a discount through payroll deductions. For offerings
commencing before September 1998, the plan consists of twenty-four month
offering periods with four six-month purchase periods in each offering period;
in September 1998, the plan was amended to reduce the offering periods for
offerings commencing after that date to twelve-month with two six-month
purchase periods in each offering period. As of July 1, 2000, all employees
participating in the plan will have twelve-month offering periods. Employees
purchase shares at 85% of the market value at either the beginning of the offering
period or the end of the purchase period, whichever price is lower. As of

December 3, 1999, the Company had reserved 19.0 million shares of its com-
mon stock for issuance under this plan, and approximately 9.2 million shares
remain available for future issuance.

The weighted average fair value of the purchase rights granted in fiscal 1999,
1998, and 1997 was $10.37, $7.93, and $8.18, respectively.

Cash Incentive Awards The Company grants Cash Incentive Awards (“CIAs”),
a form of phantom stock, to designated key employees to reward them based
on their contributions to a project. The cash value of the CIA is structured

to mirror the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan. Designated employees are
granted CIAs that generally vest annually over a three-year period. Upon each
vest date, the employee is paid the market value of the stock on the date

of vest multiplied by the number of vested shares. The Company charged
approximately $7.9 million, $2.3 million, and $0.1 million to expense for
shares vested in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Stock Appreciation Rights In fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Company granted
Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”), a form of phantom stock, to designated
key employees based on their performance in the Company. Additionally,
SARs are granted to employees in certain countries outside of the U.S. in lieu
of stock options, generally with similar vesting schedules to the Company’s
option vesting schedule; these SARs generally expire eight years after the grant
date. The performance-based SARs generally vest over a period of four years
from the date of grant, but contain an acceleration feature that allows for a
two-year vesting period based on the Company achieving predetermined per-
formance goals. These performance-based SARs expire five years from the
date of grant. Under the Company’s SARs, designated employees are awarded
rights that are equal to one share of common stock of the Company for each
right awarded with an exercise price based on the fair market value on the grant
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date. When the award vests, employees have the right to exercise the award
and receive the then-current value in cash of the appreciation from the exer-
cise price of the exercised number of rights of the Company’s common
stock. The Company awarded 14,100 rights in fiscal 1999 with an exercise price
of $71.38 and awarded 482,660 rights in fiscal 1998 with exercise prices rang-
ing from $16.91 to $17.50. In fiscal 1999, the Company charged $9.8 million to
expense based on the two-year vesting schedule as the Company achieved the
performance goals set forth in the performance-based SARs, and in fiscal
1998, $0.3 million was charged to expense. The Company did not grant
SARs to employees in fiscal 1997.

Pro forma fair value disclosures The Company accounts for its employee
stock plans, consisting of fixed stock option plans, an employee stock purchase
plan, and a performance and restricted stock plan, using the intrinsic value
method. The following table sets forth the pro forma amounts of net income
and net income per share that would have resulted if the Company accounted
for its employee stock plans under the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
YEARS ENDED 1999 1998 1997
Net income:
As reported $ 237,751 $105,144 $186,837
Pro forma $ 198,787 $ 54435 $161,790
Net income per share:
As reported:
Basic 5 1.97 1 0.79 5 1.30
Diluted $ 1.84 $ 077 $ 126
Pro forma:
Basic $ 1.64 S 0.41 $ 112
Diluted $ 1.56 5 04 $ 130

For purposes of computing pro forma net income, the fair value of each option
grant, restricted stock grant, and Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchase right
is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The assumptions used to value the option grants and purchase rights are stated

as follows:

DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
YEARS ENDED 1999 1998 1997
Expected life of options 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected life of restricted stock 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected life of purchase rights 0.75 years 1.25 years 1.25 years
Volatility 51% 53% 50%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5-5.9% 4.2-5.7% 5.0-6.6%
Dividend yield 0.25% 0.5% 0.5%

Options and restricted stock grants vest over several years, and new option and
restricted stock grants are generally made each year. Because of this, the pro
forma amounts shown above may not be representative of the pro forma effect
on reported net income in future years.

Note 11 * Stockholders’ Equity

Stockholder Rights Plan The Company’s Stockholder Rights Plan is intended
to protect stockholders from unfair or coercive takeover practices. In accor-
dance with this plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of
one common stock purchase right on each outstanding share of its common
stock held as of July 24, 1990 and on each share of common stock issued by the
Company thereafter. In August 1997, the Stockholder Rights Plan was amended
so that each right entitles the holder to purchase one unit of Series A Preferred
Stock, which is equal to 1/1000 share of Series A Preferred Stock, par value
$0.0001 per share, at a price of $115 per unit. As adjusted for the Company’s
1999 stock split in the form of a dividend, each share of common stock now
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entitles the holder to one-half of such a purchase right. Each whole right still
entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company a unit of preferred
stock at $115. The rights become exercisable in certain circumstances, including
upon an entity acquiring or announcing the intention to acquire beneficial
ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s common stock without the
approval of the Board of Directors or upon the Company being acquired by any
person in a merger or business combination transaction. The rights are redeemable
by the Company prior to exercise at $0.01 per right and expire on July 24, 2000.

Stock repurchase programs In September 1997, the Company's Board of
Directors authorized, subject to certain business and market conditions, the
purchase of up to 30.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock over

a two-year period. The Company repurchased approximately 1.7 million shares
in fiscal 1999, 20.3 million shares in fiscal 1998, and 8.0 million shares in fiscal
1997, at a cost of $30.5 million, $362.4 million, and $188.6 million, respectively.
This program was completed during the first quarter of fiscal 1999.

In April 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain
business and market conditions, the purchase of up to an additional 5.0 million
shares of the Company’s common stock over a two-year period. This new
stock repurchase program was in addition to an existing program whereby
the Company has been authorized to repurchase shares to offset issuances
under employee stock option and stock purchase plans. No purchases have
been made under the 5.0 million share repurchase program.

Under the Company’s existing plan to repurchase shares to offset issuances under
employee stock plans, the Company repurchased approximately 11.2 million,
0.7 million, and 4.6 million shares in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively,
at a cost of $448.7 million, $16.8 million, and $87.0 million, respectively.

Put warrants To facilitate the Company’s stock repurchase program, the
Company sold put warrants in a series of private placements in fiscal 1999,
1998, and 1997. Each put warrant entitles the holder to sell one share of
Adobe’s common stock to the Company at a specified price. Approximately
6.0 million, 8.0 million, and 9.2 million put warrants were written in fiscal
1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. At December 3, 1999, approximately
2.7 million put warrants were outstanding that expire on various dates
through April 2000 and have exercise prices ranging from $40.16 to $69.35
per share, with an average exercise price of $54.78 per share.

In addition, in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company purchased call
options that entitle the Company to buy 2.9 million, 3.2 million, and 4.6 million
shares, respectively, of its common stock. At December 3, 1999, approximately
1.6 million call options were outstanding that expire on various dates through
April 2000 and have exercise prices ranging from $43.42 to $74.83 per share,
with an average exercise price of $60.42 per share. Under these arrangements,
the Company, at its option, can settle with physical delivery or net shares equal
to the difference between the exercise price and the value of the option as
determined by the contract.

As part of the Company’s current stock repurchase programs, the Company
may, from time to time, enter into additional put warrant and call option
arrangements. Under these arrangements, the Company, at its option, can
settle with physical delivery or net shares equal to the difference between the
exercise price and the value of the option as determined by the contract. In the
future, the Company may consider other methods to acquire the Company’s
stock, including direct purchases, open market purchases, accelerated stock
purchase programs, and other potential methods.
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Venture stock dividend program [n March 1997, the Company established
the venture stock dividend program under which the Company may, from time
to time, distribute as a dividend-in-kind shares of its equity holdings in investee
companies to Adobe stockholders. On December 1, 1997, the Company
dividended one share of Siebel Systems, Incorporated (“Siebel”) common stock
for each 600 shares of Adobe common stock held by stockholders of record on
October 31, 1997. An equivalent cash dividend was paid for holdings of less
than 15,000 Adobe shares and for fractional Siebel shares.

Note 12 * Net Income Per Share
Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period, excluding unvested restricted
stock. Diluted net income per share is based upon the weighted average
common shares outstanding for the period plus dilutive common equivalent
shares, including unvested restricted common stock, stock options using the
treasury stock method, and put warrants using the reverse treasury stock method.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
1999 1998 1997

(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Net income $ 237,751 $ 105,144 $ 186,837

Shares used to compute basic net
income per share (weighted
average shares outstanding
during the period, excluding

unvested restricted stock) 120,786 132,866 143,924
Dilutive common equivalent shares:

Unvested restricted stock 565 120 240

Stock options 7,818 2,962 4,110

Put warrants 36 — 46
Shares used to compute

diluted net income per share 129,205 135,948 148,320
Basic net income per share $ 197 S 079 A e ]

Diluted net income per share S 1.84 S 077 $ 1.26

For the years ended December 3, 1999; November 27, 1998; and November 28,
1997, options to purchase approximately 7.2 million, 0.4 million, and 1.9 million
shares, respectively, of common stock with exercise prices greater than the
average fair market value of the Company’s stock for the period of $39.75,
$19.78, and $20.72, respectively, were not included in the calculation because
the effect would have been antidilutive.

Note 13 - Commitments and Contingencies

Lease commitments The Company leases certain of its facilities and some
of its equipment under noncancelable operating lease arrangements that expire
at various dates through 2015. Rent expense for these leases aggregated
$29.4 million, $22.1 million, and $17.8 million during fiscal 1999, 1998, and
1997, respectively. As of December 3, 1999, future minimum lease payments
under noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease income, are as follows:
2000—$21.3 million; 2001—8$20.0 million; 2002—$16.9 million; 2003—$14.0 million;
2004—85.9 million; and $2.8 million thereafter.

Included in the future minimum lease payments are the following amounts,
net of anticipated sublease income, for leased facilities vacated in connection
with the restructuring plans implemented in fiscal 1999 and the third quarter
of fiscal 1998: 2000—$2.8 million; 2001—$2.6 million; 2002—$2.6 million;
2003—%2.5 million; 2004—$3.9 million; and $2.4 million thereafter.

In fiscal 1994 and 1996, the Company entered into real estate development
agreements and operating lease agreements in connection with the construction
of two corporate headquarters office facilities in San Jose, California. The
operating lease agreement for the first office building commenced in 1996,
and the operating lease agreement for the second facility commenced in 1998.
In August 1999, the Company restructured these two current lease agreements
for its corporate headquarters. The amended and restated agreement replaces
the two prior lease agreements commencing in 1996 and 1998, respectively.
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The lease is for a period of five years and is subject to standard covenants,
including financial ratios. The Company has an option to purchase the buildings
at any time during the term for an amount equal to the total investment of the
lessor. At the end of the lease term, the Company may exercise the purchase
option or, with the mutual agreement of the lessor, renew the term of the
lease. In addition to these possibilities, at the end of the term, the Company
may elect to have the buildings sold to an unrelated third party. In such case,
the Company is obligated to use its best efforts to arrange for such a sale and is
obligated to pay the lessor the difference between the total investment in the
buildings and the net sales proceeds provided, however, that in no event would
the Company be required to pay more than a maximum guaranteed residual
amount as set forth in the lease. In the event of a default by the Company
during the term of the lease, the lessor could require the Company to purchase
the buildings for an amount equal to the Company’s option price. Under the
terms of the lease agreements, the Company may pay cash dividends, unless
an event of default has occurred or it does not meet certain financial ratios. As
of December 3, 1999, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.

During 1998, the Company entered into a real estate development agreement
for the construction of an office building in Edinburgh, Scotland. During
fiscal 1998 and 1999, the Company paid approximately $34.9 million for land,
fees, and construction costs, During fiscal 1999, the Company announced

a Board-approved restructuring, which resulted in the reduction in workforce
primarily in its European headquarters in Edinburgh, Scotland. (For further
information, see Note 7.) As a result of the restructuring, the decision
was made by management to sell the new facility in Edinburgh, and the sale
was completed in September 1999. Cash received from the sale of the facility was

$40.6 million, and the gain realized upon the sale totaled $5.7 million. As of
December 3, 1999, the Company had no commitments related to this building.

Line of credit In August 1999, the Company entered into a $200.0 million
unsecured revolving line of credit with a group of 15 banks for general corporate
purposes, subject to certain financial covenants. One-half of the facility expires
in August 2000; the other $100.0 million expires in August 2002. Outstanding
balances accrue interest at LIBOR plus a margin that is based on the financial
ratios of the Company. Under the terms of the line of credit agreement, the
Company may pay cash dividends, unless an event of default has occurred or

it does not meet certain financial ratios. There were no outstanding balances on
the credit facility as of December 3, 1999. In addition, as of December 3, 1999,
the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants,

Royalties The Company has certain royalty commitments associated with the
shipment and licensing of certain products. Royalty expense is generally based
on a dollar amount per unit shipped or a percentage of the underlying revenue.
Royalty expense was approximately $24.5 million, $25.3 million, and $25.0 million
in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Legal actions The Company is engaged in certain legal actions arising in

the ordinary course of business. The Company believes it has adequate legal
defenses and that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
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Note 14 « Related Party Transactions

During fiscal 1999, the Company entered into two separate loan agreements
with an executive officer of the Company to assist with his relocation to
San Jose, California. The first loan in the amount of $550,000 was repaid to
the Company on December 31, 1999. The second loan, in the amount of $1.0
million, is interest-free and is secured by the executive’s principal residence.
Under the terms of the agreement, the executive is required to repay this loan
at $200,000 per year for the next five years, beginning December 2000. In
addition, the loan must be repaid in full within thirty days of any termination
of the executive’s employment,

At November 28, 1997, the Company held a 13% equity interest in McQueen
International Limited (“McQueen”) and accounted for the investment using
the cost method. During fiscal 1994, the Company entered into various agree-
ments with McQueen, whereby the Company contracted with McQueen to
perform product localization and technical support functions and to provide
printing, assembly, and warehousing services.

Effective December 31, 1997, McQueen was acquired by Sykes Enterprises,
Incorporated (“Sykes”), a publicly traded company. In connection with the
acquisition, the Company exchanged its shares of McQueen for 486,676 shares
of Sykes’ restricted common stock and recorded a gain on the exchange of
$6.7 million in fiscal 1998. Later in fiscal 1998, these shares were sold at a minimal
gain. The Company made minimum annual payments to Sykes/McQueen for
certain services, which amounted to $2.4 million and $5.2 million in fiscal
1998 and 1997, respectively. Purchases from Sykes/McQueen, during the period
in which it was an affiliate of the Company, amounted to $15.7 million and
$35.0 million for fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Note 15 « Financial Instruments

Fair value of financial instruments The Company’s cash equivalents, short-
term investments, and marketable equity securities are carried at fair value,
based on quoted market prices for these or similar investments. (For further
information, see Note 3.)

The Company’s portfolio of equity investments at December 3, 1999 had a
cost basis of $67.5 million and a fair market value of $75.8 million. (For further
information, see Note 5.)

Foreign currency hedging instruments The Company enters into forward
exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency exposures on a continuing basis
for periods consistent with its committed exposures. These transactions do
subject the Company to risk of accounting gains and losses; however, the gains
and losses on these contracts offset gains and losses on the assets, liabilities,
and transactions being hedged. The Company is exposed to credit-related losses
in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties in these contracts. The
amounts of unrealized gains and losses are immaterial. As of December 3, 1999
and November 27, 1998, the Company held $16.8 million and $19.5 million,
respectively, of aggregate foreign currency forward exchange contracts for the
sale of Japanese yen. As of December 3, 1999 and November 27, 1998, the
Company held $64.0 million and $12.5 million, respectively, in option contracts
also for the sale of Japanese yen.

Concentration of risk Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investments, and accounts receivable.
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The Company’s investment portfolio consists of investment-grade securities
diversified among security types, industries, and issuers. The Company’s
investments are managed by recognized financial institutions that follow the
Company’s investment policy. The Company’s policy limits the amount of
credit exposure to any one issue or issuer, and the Company believes no signifi-
cant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these investments.

Credit risk in receivables is limited to OEM customers and to dealers and
distributors of hardware and software products to the retail market. The
Company adopts credit policies and standards to keep pace with the evolving
software industry. Management believes that any risk of accounting loss is
significantly reduced due to the diversity of its products, end users, and
geographic sales areas. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of

its customers’ financial condition and requires letters of credit or other guaran-
tees, whenever deemed necessary. (For discussion of significant customers as of
December 3, 1999, see Note 16.)

A significant portion of the Company’s licensing revenue is derived from a
small number of OEM customers. The Company’s OEM customers on occasion
seek to renegotiate their royalty arrangements. The Company evaluates these
requests on a case-by-case basis. If an agreement is not reached, a customer
may decide to pursue other options, which could result in lower licensing revenue
for the Company. Also, in the fall of 1997, one of Adobe’s largest PostScript
customers, Hewlett-Packard Company, introduced a clone version of Adobe
PostScript in one family of monochrome laser printers.

Note 16 * Industry Segment and Geographic Information

The Company adopted SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information” in fiscal 1999. SFAS 131 establishes standards for the
manner in which public companies report information about operating segments
and related disclosures about products, geographic information, and significant
customers. The method for determining what information to report is based

on the way executive management organizes the operating segments within the
Company for making operating decisions and assessing performance.

The Company has four reportable segments that offer different product lines.
These segments are Web Publishing, Print Publishing, ePaper Solutions, and
OEM PostScript and Other. The Web Publishing segment provides software
to create Web sites with graphics, images, videos, and animations. The Print
Publishing segment provides software for professional page layout, illustration,
business publishing, and printing. The ePaper Solutions segment allows users
to convert information to Adobe Portable Document Format (“PDF”) with the
original appearance preserved and allows for the distribution of documents via
the Web, intranets, e-mail, or CD-ROM for viewing and printing on any system.
The OEM PostScript and Other segment includes printing technology to create
and print simple or visually rich documents with precision. This segment also
includes revenue from divested businesses.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company
evaluates performance based on the contribution margin for each segment.
The Company does not identify or allocate its assets by operating segments.
As such, segment asset information is not disclosed.
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The following results are broken out by operating segments for the fiscal years
1999, 1998, and 1997:

A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the appli-
cable line items in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years 1999,

WEB PRINT PAPER  POSTSCRIPT 1998, and 1997 is as follows:
PUBLISHING PUBLISHING SOLUTIONS AND OTHER TOTAL DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
LR Y W S e e s LS ot e Er e i e RV S e YEKREENDED a3 Saoh 4
s ) Lyt s guingt el s b e aed b sl S ElEG ERRAY . R R R R T R T BT
Revenue $304073 $353863 $129333 138165 $1,015434 Tﬁ;?:;:;":;:’:ﬂ’::g:gf:‘ S TauAst i Sao
DRECLCosS 30505 "0 Pee T Weasa TVTIAZI0 - SeA0 Indirect operating expenses! 461,990 454,134 385,900
Gross profit 360,568 320,071 114,800 125,455 920,894 Restructuring and other 23,028 38245 (590)
Direct operating expenses’ 53,913 47,811 20,521 50,198 172,443 Acquired in-process
Contribution margin $306,655 §272260 § 94279 S 75257 S 748451 research and development 3,580 — 5,969
78% 77% 73% 54% 74% Total operating income 259,853 125,347 230,756
Fiscal 1998 Other income 114,574 42,347 65,334
Revenue $354245 $272200 § 57954 $210392 $ 894,791 Income before taxes $ 374,427 $ 167,694 $ 296,090
Direct costs 42,110 23,431 6,524 28,969 101,034
1 Indirect of ing exp include exy that are not directly to a seq such as g 1l
Gross profit 312,135 248,769 51,430 181423 793,757 i s ALl it ok Sl A S i Sseces o S RABMRE
Direct operating expenses” 40,243 46,226 19,660 69,902 176,031
Contribution margin §271,892 $202543 $ 31770 $111,521 $ 617,726 The Company categorizes its geographic information into three major market
779% 740% 559 53% 69% regions: the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), and Asia.
Fiscal 1997 The Americas region includes the U.S., Canada, Latin America, and Central
Revenue §311912 $320982 S 47,060 §231,840 $ 911,894 America. The Asia region includes Japan and the Asian Pacific countries.
Direct costs 51,401 29,477 5373 29,937 116,188
Gross profit 260,511 291,505 41,787 201,903 795,706
Direct operating expenses” 30,599 48,078 16,114 78,880 173,671
Contribution margin $229912 5243427 S5 25673 5123023 § 622,035
74% 76% 54% 53% 68%

* Direct operating expenses include research and development and product marketing.
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Revenue and long-lived asset information by geographic areas for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 3, 1999 is presented below:

Revenue
DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
YEARS ENDED 1999 1998 1997
Americas:
United States $ 497,842 $ 449,996 $ 427,075
Other 3231 28493 24,232
Total Americas 530,153 478,489 451,307
Europe 265,981 240,220 240,233
Asia:
Japan 175,122 150,824 196,877
Other 44,178 25,258 23477
Total Asia 219,300 176,082 220,354
$ 1,015,434 $ 894,79 $911,894
Long-lived assets
DECEMBER 3 NOVEMBER 27 NOVEMBER 28
YEARS ENDED 1999 1998 1997
Americas:
United States $ 53,890 $ 67,946 $ 67,661
Other —_ — 1,607
Total Americas 53,890 67,946 69,268
Europe 8,706 20,685 8,228
Asia 6,542 5,256 3,483

$ 69,138 $ 93,887 $ 80,979

In fiscal 1999, sales of application products to Ingram Micro, Inc. (“Ingram”)
accounted for 27.4% of the Company’s total revenue. Receivables from Tech Data
Corporation accounted for 11.3% of total receivables at December 3, 1999. In
fiscal 1998, sales of application products to Ingram accounted for 13.5% of the
Company’s total revenue, and receivables from Ingram at year end accounted
for 14.4% of total receivables. No customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Company’s total revenue and total receivables in fiscal 1997.

Note 17 » Subsequent Events

In December 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an increase
of 300.0 million shares of common stock authorized for issuance by the
Company, from 200.0 million to an aggregate of 500.0 million shares of
common stock, subject to stockholder approval.

In December 1999, the Company sold its corporate headquarters facility

in Edinburgh, Scotland in connection with the restructuring program imple-
mented during the second and third quarters of fiscal 1999. (For detailed
information of the restructuring program, see Note 7.) Net cash proceeds
from the sale of the land and building were approximately $5.4 million, and
the gain recognized upon the sale totaled approximately $1.0 million.



QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

{In thousands, except per share amounts)

77

The following tables (presented in thousands, except per share amounts) set forth
quarterly supplementary data for each of the years in the two-year period ended
December 3, 1999. All share and per share amounts referred to in the table below
have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split in the form of a stock
dividend of our common stock effected October 26, 1999.

s o s oo 8 e P o g
Revenue $ 226,902
Gross profit 204,403
Income before income taxes 60,319
Net income 38,276
Basic net income per share 031
Shares used in computing

basic net income per share 121,946
Diluted net income per share 0.30
Shares used in computing

diluted net income per share 126,768
Common stock price per share

High $ 2550

Low 1838

Cash dividends per share 0.025

QUARTER ENDED

$ 245,886 $ 260,876 $ 281,770

222,182
70,788
44,961

037

121,144
035

128,100

$ 4053
2272
0.025

$

236,609
90,028
57,155

0.47

121,896
0.44

129,658

5263
33.50
0025

$

257,700
153,292
97,359
0.82

119,170
0.76

127,406

79.00
4753
0,025

$1,015434
920,894
374,427
237,751
1.97

120,786
1.84

129,205

$ 79.00
1838
0.10

QUARTER ENDED

* %+ s s s s s s s s 3 s s s s s s s = s+ YEARENDED

T B R (8947 IS MY, VRS T o 2T RN
Revenue $197,813 5227310 $ 222932 5 246,736 S 894,79
Gross profit 170,008 201,742 199,563 222,444 793,757
Income before income taxes 42,635 44,645 242 80,172 167,694
Net income 26,744 27,980 152 50,268 105,144
Basic net income per share 0.20 021 — 040 0.79
Shares used in computing

basic net income per share 135,524 133,470 134,556 126,230 132,866
Diluted net income per share 0.19 0.20 - 039 0.77
Shares used in computing

diluted net income per share 139,170 137,980 136,824 128414 135,948
Common stock price per share

High $ 2238 § 2594 § 2257 § 2400 § 2594

Low 1675 19.97 1203 11.82 11.82
Cash dividends per share 0.025 0.025 0.025 0.025 0.10

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the
symbol “ADBE” On December 31, 1999, there were 1,653 holders of record
of our common stock. Because many of such shares are held by brokers and
other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total
number of stockholders represented by these record holders.
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Management is responsible for all the information and representations contained
in the consolidated financial statements and other sections of this Annual Report.
Management believes that the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles appro-
priate in the circumstances to reflect, in all material respects, the substance of
events and transactions that should be included, and that the other information
in this Annual Report is consistent with those statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, management makes informed judgments
and estimates of the expected effects of events and transactions that are currently
being accounted for.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the consolidated financial
statements, management depends on the Company’s system of internal
accounting controls. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s authorization, and are recorded properly to permit the preparation
of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. In designing control procedures, management recognizes
that errors or irregularities may nevertheless occur. Also, estimates and
judgments are required to assess and balance the relative cost and expected
benefits of the controls. Management believes that the Company’s accounting
controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that could

be material to the consolidated financial statements are prevented or would be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions.

The Board of Directors pursues its oversight role for these consolidated
financial statements through the Audit Committee, which is comprised solely
of Directors who are not officers or employees of the Company. The Audit
Committee meets with management periodically to review their work and to
monitor the discharge of each of their responsibilities. The Audit Committee
also meets periodically with KPMG LLP, the independent auditors, who
have free access to the Audit Committee or the Board of Directors, without
management present, to discuss internal accounting control, auditing, and
financial reporting matters.

KPMG LLP is engaged to express an opinion on our consolidated financial
statements. Their opinion is based on procedures believed by them to be
sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial state-
ments are not materially misleading and do not contain material errors.

Nl T bt

Harold L. Covert

Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
December 14, 1999
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Adobe Systems Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Adobe
Systems Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 3, 1999 and November 27,
1998, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity
and other comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 3, 1999. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Adobe Systems
Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 3, 1999 and November 27, 1998,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 3, 1999, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

YeMG Lip

KPMG LLP
Mountain View, California
December 14, 1999
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